

# **UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA**

# MEDIATING ROLE OF ORGANISATIONAL JUSTICE ON INTERNAL ALIGNMENT AND JOB PERFORMANCE AMONG LOCAL EMPLOYEES IN JORDAN INDUSTRIAL ESTATES

KHTATBEH MOHAMED MAHMOUD A.

SPE 2021 30



# MEDIATING ROLE OF ORGANISATIONAL JUSTICE ON INTERNAL ALIGNMENT AND JOB PERFORMANCE AMONG LOCAL EMPLOYEES IN JORDAN INDUSTRIAL ESTATES

By

KHTATBEH MOHAMED MAHMOUD A.

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

November 2020

All materials contained within the thesis including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs and all other artworks are copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from copyright holder. Commercial use of materials may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright© Univiersiti Putra Malaysia



# DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my father's soul, may Almighty Allah have mercy on him and reward Paradise.



C

Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

# MEDIATING ROLE OF ORGANISATIONAL JUSTICE ON INTERNAL ALIGNMENT AND JOB PERFORMANCE AMONG LOCAL EMPLOYEES IN JORDAN INDUSTRIAL ESTATES

By

#### KHTATBEH MOHAMED MAHMOUD A.

November 2020

Chair School : Anuar Shah bin Bali Mahomed, PhD : Business and Economics

Job performance is a significant factor that organisations seek to increase and maintain in order to achieve strategic goals. In pursuit of excellence, a firm must attract and maintain highly qualified, talented employees effectively and efficiently. In order to achieve this, it is necessary to study the factors that affect the recruitment of qualified employees and study the factors that affect their performance and satisfaction. Among these factors is how to build the internal job structure on which to determine the value of salaries and wages for employees. The industrial sector in Jordan is one of the most important sectors that is considered a crucial tributary of the economy and contribute to the employment of a rigorous number of Jordanian talents, which thus contributes to reducing the increased problem of unemployment. Jordan Industrial Estates Company (JIEC), a vital semi-governmental organisation, manages six qualified industrial estates in Jordan by providing infrastructure and basic work facilities to attract investors and establish factories there. Jordan Industrial Estates (JIE) contributes to raising the gross domestic product (GDP) in addition to its influence in reducing the unemployment rates. Therefore, investigating one of the human resource practices that play a vital role in raising the level of employees' performance and retaining them was necessary, especially in JIE, where the percentage of Jordanian workers is decreasing compared to the total number of employees.

This study assessed the causal relationships in internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation and internal pay structure) as a major factor affecting job performance. Another subject of examination was the mediating role of organisational justice on the relationship between these factors and job performance in terms of employees'

perception of justice regarding decisions on setting wages and salaries and the fairness of these payments when compared to similar jobs.

A review of literature and theories showed significant overlap in the structure and relationships of the factors and practices that affect job performance. This study examined the most essential of these factors related to how to determine employees' salaries and wages, as well as the extent of its impact on their performance, in addition to conceptualise these factors in a framework that shows these relationships. This study aimed to investigate the mediating effect of organisational justice on the relationship between internal alignment and job performance. For that, the researcher based this study on the vital and significant conceptualisations of the equity theory and the pay model.

This research employed a quantitative approach. The sample consisted of 690 Jordanian employees working in three industrial estates, chosen to represent the study population. Data were collected through a self-administrated questionnaire distributed to the study sample. Data analysis involved structural equation modelling (SEM) using Analysis of Moment Structures (AMOS) and Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software tools.

The results of this study revealed a significant positive effect of two of the independent variables, job analysis and internal pay structure, on job performance. In contrast, no significant effect of job evaluation on job performance was found. Moreover, the study demonstrated that organisational justice partially mediates the relationship between each of the factors of job analysis, internal pay structure and job performance. Meanwhile, full mediation between job evaluation and job performance was noted.

In conclusion, the researcher believes that striving to raise and maintain the level of employees' performance through practices that affect their lives is vital for organisations. One facet of this endeavour involves achieving justice through using job analysis and internally comparing similar jobs as part of the decision-making process that determines employee salaries and wages. This approach will motivate employees to improve their performance and enhance retention. The results of this study have many practical and theoretical contributions which have been discussed.

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktor Falsafah

# MEDIASI PERUBAHAN KEADILAN ORGANISASI TENTANG PENJAJARAN DALAMAN DAN PRESTASI KERJA DI KALANGAN PEKERJA TEMPATAN DI INDUSTRI ESTET DI JORDAN

Oleh

# KHTATBEH MOHAMED MAHMOUD A.

November 2020

# Pengerusi : Anuar Shah bin Bali Mahomed, PhD Sekolah : Perniagaan dan Ekonomi

Prestasi kerja adalah faktor penting yang ingin ditingkatkan dan dikekalkan oleh organisasi untuk mencapai tujuan strategik. Untuk mencapai kecemerlangan, syarikat mesti menarik dan mengekalkan pekerja yang berkelayakan dan berbakat dengan berkesan dan cekap. Untuk mencapainya, adalah perlu untuk mengkaji faktor-faktor yang mempengaruhi pengambilan pekerja yang berkelayakan dan mengkaji faktor-faktor yang mempengaruhi prestasi dan kepuasan mereka. Antara faktor tersebut ialah bagaimana membina struktur pekerjaan dalaman yang menentukan nilai gaji dan upah untuk pekerja. Sektor perindustrian di Jordan adalah satu sektor yang paling penting yang dianggap sebagai anak sungai penting dalam ekonomi dan menyumbang kepada penggunaan sejumlah besar bakat Jordan, yang dengan demikian menyumbang untuk mengurangkan peningkatan masalah pengangguran.

Syarikat Estet Perindustrian Jordan (JIEC), sebuah organisasi separa kerajaan yang penting, menguruskan enam kawasan industri yang berkelayakan di Jordan dengan menyediakan infrastruktur dan kemudahan kerja asas untuk menarik pelabur dan mendirikan kilang di sana. Kawasan Perindustrian Jordan (JIE) menyumbang untuk meningkatkan produk domestik kasar (KDNK) di samping pengaruhnya dalam mengurangkan kadar pengangguran. Oleh itu, mengenalpasti salah satu amalan sumber manusia yang memainkan peranan penting dalam meningkatkan tahap prestasi pekerja dan mengekalkannya adalah perlu, terutama di JIE, di mana peratusan pekerja Jordan menurun berbanding dengan jumlah pekerja.

Kajian ini menilai hubungan kausal dalam penyelarasan dalaman (analisis pekerjaan, penilaian pekerjaan dan struktur gaji dalaman) sebagai faktor utama

yang mempengaruhi prestasi kerja. Subjek pemeriksaan lain adalah peranan perantara keadilan organisasi terhadap hubungan antara faktor-faktor ini dan prestasi kerja dari segi persepsi pekerja terhadap keadilan mengenai keputusan menetapkan gaji dan kewajaran pembayaran ini jika dibandingkan dengan pekerjaan serupa.

Kajian literatur dan teori menunjukkan pertindihan yang signifikan dalam struktur dan hubungan faktor dan amalan yang mempengaruhi prestasi kerja. Kajian ini mengkaji faktor-faktor yang paling mustahak berkaitan dengan cara menentukan gaji dan upah pekerja, serta sejauh mana kesannya terhadap prestasi mereka, di samping konsep faktor-faktor ini dalam kerangka yang menunjukkan hubungan ini. Untuk itu, penyelidik membuat kajian ini berdasarkan konsep konseptualisasi teori ekuiti dan model gaji.

Penyelidikan ini menggunakan pendekatan kuantitatif. Sampel terdiri daripada 690 pekerja Jordan yang bekerja di tiga kawasan industri, dipilih untuk mewakili populasi kajian. Data dikumpulkan melalui soal selidik yang dikendalikan sendiri yang diedarkan secara sampel kajian. Analisis data melibatkan pemodelan persamaan struktur (SEM) menggunakan alat perisian Analisis Moment Struktur (AMOS) dan Pakej Statistik untuk Sains Sosial (SPSS).

Hasil kajian ini menunjukkan kesan positif yang signifikan dari dua pemboleh ubah bebas, analisis pekerjaan dan struktur gaji dalaman, terhadap prestasi kerja. Sebaliknya, tidak ada kesan penilaian pekerjaan yang signifikan terhadap prestasi kerja. Lebih-lebih lagi, kajian menunjukkan bahawa keadilan organisasi sebahagiannya memediasi hubungan antara setiap faktor analisis pekerjaan, struktur gaji dalaman dan prestasi kerja. Sementara itu, perantaraan penuh antara penilaian pekerjaan dan prestasi kerja diperhatikan.

Sebagai kesimpulan, penyelidik percaya bahawa berusaha untuk meningkatkan dan mengekalkan tahap prestasi pekerja melalui amalan yang mempengaruhi kehidupan mereka sangat penting bagi organisasi. Salah satu aspek usaha ini melibatkan mencapai keadilan dengan menggunakan analisis pekerjaan dan membandingkan secara dalaman pekerjaan yang serupa sebagai sebahagian daripada proses membuat keputusan yang menentukan gaji dan upah pekerja. Pendekatan ini akan memotivasi pekerja untuk meningkatkan pengekalan. Hasil kajian ini mempunyai banyak sumbangan praktikal dan teori yang telah dibincangkan.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the people who have supported me on my educational journey. This work could not have been completed without their support and assistance. I would like to state my full appreciation and deep gratitude to my supervisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Anuar Shah Bali Mahomed, and my supervisory committee members Prof. Dr. Suhaimi bin Ab Rahman and Dr. Rosmah Mohamed for the unremitting support of my Ph.D. thesis, and for their tolerance, inspiration, and huge knowledge. Their supervision had helped me at all times. I would also like to express my sincere thanks and gratitude to my father and my father-in-law may God have mercy on them, my mother may God bless her, brothers, and sisters for encouraging and offering me all the support to complete my study. I would never forget to show gratitude to my other half, my gorgeous wife "Shereen" for her constant support and patience, and for her love and encouragement during my study. She persistently believed in me and gave me the hope to follow my dream. Without them, my study would not have been achievable.

I would like to extend my huge thanks to the Universiti Putra Malaysia for giving me the opportunity to study for a Ph.D. degree in human resources management and to all of the teachers and staff of the School of Business and Economics. I would like to show appreciation to the participants in my survey, who have freely shared their valuable time throughout the process of the survey.

Finally, my deep thankfulness to my brothers-in-law, my children "Jana", "Yaman", Tala", "Lena", "Sima", and friends for their full support and encouragement all the way through my thesis process. This achievement would not have been done without them. I will be forever thankful for your love.

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

### Anuar Shah bin Bali Mahomed, PhD

Associate Professor School of Business and Economics Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

### Suhaimi bin Ab Rahman, PhD

Professor School of Business and Economics Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

# Rosmah binti Mohamed, PhD

Senior Lecturer School of Business and Economics Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

### ZALILAH MOHD SHARIFF, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date: 08 April 2021

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

i
iii
v
vi
viii
xiv
XV
xvi

# CHAPTER

1	INT	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	Introduction	1
	1.2	Background of the Study	1
		1.2.1 Jordan's Economic Situation	4
		1.2.2 Overview of Jordan Industrial Estates Company (JIEC)	5 5 8
	1.3	Problem Statement	5
	1.4	Research Questions	8
	١,٥	Research Objectives	9
	1.6	Scope of the Study	10
	1.7	Significance of the Study	11
	1.8	Definition of Terms	12
		1.8.1 Internal Alignment	12
		1.8.2 Job Analysis	12
		1.8.3 Job Evaluation	13
		1.8.4 Internal Pay Structure	13
		1.8.5 Organisational Justice	13
		1.8.6 Job Performance	13
	1.9	Thesis Organisation	14
2	TTT	ERATURE REVIEW	15
4	2.1	Introduction	15
	2.1	Job Performance	15
	2.2	2.2.1 The Concept of Job Performance	15
		2.2.1 The Concept of Job Performance 2.2.2 Factors Affecting Job Performance	15
		2.2.2 Factors Affecting Job Performance 2.2.3 Measures of Job Performance	18
		2.2.5 Measures of Job Performance 2.2.4 Performance as a Multi-Dimensional Concept	10
		2.2.5 Job Attitude	21
		2.2.6 Job Satisfaction	21
		2.2.6 Job Satisfaction 2.2.6.1 Factors Determining Job Satisfaction	22
		2.2.6.2 Job Satisfaction and Employee Performance	23
		2.2.7 Turnover	23
	2.3		25
	2.3	Human Resource Practices	29
	2.5	Job Analysis	30
	2.5	2.5.1 Job Description	32
			24

		2.5.2 Job Specification	33
		2.5.3 Relationship between Job Analysis and Job Performance	33
	2.6	Job Evaluation	36
		2.6.1 Relationship between Job Evaluation and Job	
		Performance	38
	2.7	Employees' Compensation	39
		2.7.1 Constitution of Good and Adequate Compensation	42
		2.7.2 Pay Variation	43
		2.7.3 Empirical Evidence	44
	2.8	Internal Pay Structure	45
		2.8.1 Content and Value	46
		2.8.2 Salary and Wages	46
		2.8.3 Relationship between Internal Pay Structure and Job	
		Performance	48
	2.9	Organisational Justice	50
		2.9.1 Organisational Justice Dimensions	51
		2.9.2 Relationship between Job Analysis and Organisational	
		Justice	54
		2.9.3 Relationship between Job Evaluation and Organisational	
		Justice	55
		2.9.4 Relationship between Pay Structure and Organisational	
		Justice	55
		2.9.5 Relationship between Organisational Justice and Job	_
	• • •	Performance	56
	2.10	Underpinning Theory	58
		2.10.1 Pay Model	58
		2.10.2 Equity Theory	59
		2.10.3 The Relative Deprivation Theory	61
	0.11	2.10.4 Tournament Theory and Pay Gaps	62
		Theoretical Framework	62
		Hypothesis of the study	64
	2.13	1	65
	2.14	Summary	65
3	мет	THODOLOGY	67
3	3.1	Introduction	67
	3.2	Research Philosophy	67
	3.3	Research Design	68
	3.4	Location of Study	69
	3.5	Population	70
	3.6	Sampling	70
	5.0	3.6.1 Sampling Frame	70
		3.6.2 Sample Size	71
		3.6.3 Stratified Random Sampling	72
		3.6.4 Sampling Technique	72
	3.7	Research Instrument	75
	2.1	3.7.1 Translation of Research Instrument	75
		3.7.2 The Cover Letter	76
	3.8	Measurement Scale	76

3.9	Measur	rement of Variables	77
	3.9.1	Job Analysis	78
	3.9.2	Job Evaluation	78
	3.9.3	Internal Pay Structure	78
	3.9.4	Organizational Justice	78
	3.9.5	Job Performance	79
3.10	Pilot S	tudy	79
3.11	Data C	Collection	80
3.12	Qualita	ative Methodology	81
3.13	Data P	reparation	82
	3.13.1	Data Screening and Cleaning	82
	3.13.2	Non-response Rate	83
	3.13.3	Missing Data	83
	3.13.4	Assessment of Outliers	83
	3.13.5	Assessment of Data Normality	84
3.14	Data A	nalysis	85
	3.14.1	Unit of Analysis	85
	3.14.2	Analytical Procedure	86
	3.14.3		86
	3.14.4	Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)	86
3.15	Summa	ary	87
DEG			22
		ND DISCUSSIONS	88
4.1			88
4.2		raphic Profile	88
4.3		natory Factor Analysis	91
	4.3.1	CFA of Job Analysis	91
		CFA of Job Evaluation	92
	4.3.3		93
		CFA of Distributive Justice	95
	4.3.5		96 07
	4.3.6		97 98
	4.3.7	CFA of Contextual Performance Second Order CFA of Job Performance	98 99
	4.3.8		
4.4	4.3.9	Second Order CFA of Organisational Justice	100 101
4.4 4.5		ral Equation Modelling (SEM) Analysis	101
4.6		ing the Mediating Effect	104
4.7		ew Results	110
т./	4.7.1	Interview results of company A	110
	4.7.1	Interview results of company R Interview results of company B	112
	4.7.3	Interview results of company D	112
	4.7.4	Interview results of company D	115
	4.7.5	Interview results of company E	116
	4.7.6	Interview results of company F	117
4.8	Discuss		117
	4.8.1	Effects of Internal Alignment on Job Performation	
	4.8.2	Effects of Internal Alignment on Organisationa	
	4.8.3	Effects of Organisational Justice on Job Perfor	
		5	

4

G

		4.8.4 Mediating Effect of Organisational Justice o Internal	
		Alignment and Job Performance	125
	4.9	Summary	126
5	SUN	IMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	127
	5.1	Introduction	127
	5.2	Summary of the Study	127
	5.3	Implications	128
		5.3.1 Theoretical Implications	129
		5.3.2 Practical Implications	130
	5.4	Limitations of the Study	131
	5.5	Conclusion	131
	5.6	Recommendations	132
		5.6.1 For Practical Application	132
		5.6.2 For Future Research	133
REFEF	RENC	ES	135
APPEN	DEC	IES	171
BIODA	TA C	DF STUDENT	187
LIST C	F PU	BLICATIONS	188

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	JIE Companies and Workers Number	6
3.1	The number of employees in each industrial estate and its percentage of the total number of Jordanian workforce	71
3.2	Number of employees per industrial sector in the three selected industrial estates. Numbers in each cell are counts and percentages in parentheses	72
3.3	Sample size required stratified by industrial sector and gender for the three industrial estates selected	73
3.4	Main Variables Measurements	77
3.5	Cronbach's Alpha Values	80
4.1	Demographic Profile	90
4.2	Factor loadings, AVE and construct reliability of Job Analysis	91
4.3	Factor loadings, AVE and construct reliability of Job Evaluation	93
4.4	Factor loadings, AVE and construct reliability of internal pay structure	94
4.5	Factor loadings, AVE and construct reliability of Distributive Justice	95
4.6	Factor loadings, AVE and construct reliability of Procedural Justice	96
4.7	Factor loadings, AVE and construct reliability of Task Performance	97
4.8	Factor loadings, AVE and construct reliability of Contextual Performance	99
4.9	Constructs Validity and Reliability of the measurement model	103
4.10	Discriminant Validity	104
4.11	Path Co-efficient Results	105
4.12	Mediation Effect of Job Analysis on Job Performance through Organisational Justice	107
4.13	Mediation Effect of Job Evaluation on Job Performance through Organisational Justice	107
4.14	Mediation Effect of Internal Pay Structure on Job Performance through Organisational Justice	108
4.15	Summary of all hypotheses results	110

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
2.1	What Shapes Internal Structure	27
2.2	Consequences of an Internally Aligned Pay Structure	45
2.3	Pay Model	59
2.4	Equity Theory Model	61
2.5	Theoretical Framework	64
2.6	Proposed Research Framework	65
3.1	Sampling Technique Process	74
3.2	Major Steps Involved in the Analysis of Data	86
4.1	Initial and Final CFA of Job Analysis	92
4.2	Initial and Final CFA of Job Evaluation	93
4.3	Initial and Final CFA of Internal Pay Structure	94
4.4	Initial and Final CFA of Distributive Justice	95
4.5	Initial and Final CFA of Procedural Justice	97
4.6	Initial and Final CFA of Task Performance	98
4.7	Initial and Final CFA of Contextual Performance	99
4.8	2nd order CFA of Job Performance	100
4.9	2nd order CFA of Organisational Justice	101
4.10	Overall measurement model	102
4.11	Overall structural model	105
4.12	Comparison between direct model and mediation model	109

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AGFI	Adjusted Goodness-Of-Fit Indices
AMOS	Analysis of Moment Structures
AVE	Average Variance Extracted
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
CFA	Confirmatory Factor Analysis
CFI	Comparative Fit Index
DOS	Department of Statistics
CR	Construct Reliability
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GFI	Goodness-Of-Fit Indices
HR	Human Resources
HRM	Human Resources Management
IL	Investment Law
ILO	International Labour Organisation
IPS	Internal Pay Structure
ITUC	International Trade Union Confederation
JA	Job Analysis
JCI	Jordan Chamber of Industry
JD	Jordanian Dinar
JE	Job Evaluation
JIE	Jordan Industrial Estates
JIEC	Jordan Industrial Estates Company
JLW	Jordan Labour Watch
JMITS	Jordan Ministry of Industry-Trade and Supply
JML	Jordan Ministry of Labour
JP	Job Performance
LB	Lower Bound
MI	Modification Indices
NFI	Normed Fit Index
OJ	Organisational Justice
RMSEA	Root Mean Square Error Of Approximation
SEM	Structural Equation Modelling
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Science
TLI	Tucker- Lewis Coefficient Index
UB	Upper Bound
USD	United States Dollar
WSB	World Statistics Pocketbook

# **CHAPTER 1**

#### INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1 Introduction**

Employee and organisational performance play a critical role in a creating competitive advantage over other organisations worldwide, especially in the current business environment, which is characterised by rapid change and adaptation to different circumstances. Accordingly, organisations must analyse the factors that affect job performance, an integrated set of skills, abilities, motivation and opportunities that underpin overall organisational performance (Gridwichai, Kulwanich, Piromkam, and Kwanmuangvanich, 2020). The researchers added, because job performance is employees' main contribution to productivity, identifying and developing the underlying motivations and barriers affecting job performance should be an organisational priority.

This study seeks to demonstrate the impact of internal alignment techniques as well as employees' perception of justice on job performance. In this chapter, the theoretical background related to this study will be covered, an overview of Jordan Industrial Estates Company, where this study was conducted, in order to clarify the statement of the study problem. This chapter includes also; the research questions, the objectives of the study, the significance of the study, and finally the definition of the study terms as it was covered in the previous literature and as it is used in this study.

### 1.2 Background of the Study

Job performance is one of the most influential and decisive elements affecting an organisation's performance and reputation, especially at the present time where the work environment is quickly evolving (Anesukanjanakul, Banpot, and Jermsittiparsert, 2019; Jermsittiparsert, Suan, and Kaliappen, 2019). The importance of job performance has taken root, increasing over the past several years to become the predominant variable in any organisation. This factor has consequently assumed priority in all aspects of the job and in administrative contexts (Gridwichai et al., 2020).

Job performance is not confined to one area; instead, this concept focuses on an employee's life satisfaction in general. It has a prominent role in an organisation's progress and development, reflecting the employee's contribution to the company's success and effectiveness (Korkaew and Suthinee, 2012). Job performance has become a significant issue that reflects the provision of satisfactory and safe environmental factors in the workplace, significantly affecting the employees and contributing to the achievement of the organisation's strategic objectives

(Vratskikh, Masa'deh, Al-Lozi, and Maqableh, 2016). Increasing job performance requires employees to work continuously to develop their skills and knowledge in all areas of work, that they may remain productive and able to compete steadily (Jalagat, 2017). Their diligence and acquisition of new skills and knowledge will allow employees to achieve better performance and increase their efficiency, contributing to achieving the strategic goals of the organisation (Gridwichai et al., 2020).

The significance of this topic is underlined by its status as the most searched topic in human resources (HR) and organisational behaviour, seizing researchers' interest in various forms and scenarios (Kappagoda, Othman, and Alwis, 2014). In general, job performance represents the good performance of the employee in his work and can refer to employees' ability to achieve their goals in the organisations where they work. Moreover, this phenomenon is related to self-performance and does not depend on the external factors of evaluation (Jacobs, Hellman, Wuest, and Markowitz, 2013). Accordingly, since the employees are the backbone of any organisation, the administration must realise the importance of the employee more than the job itself, where the performance of employees represents the bright spot in achieving the goals of the organisation (Jalagat, 2017).

Researchers have investigated job performance in areas such as marketing (Korschun, Bhattacharya, and Swain, 2014), industrial companies (Menges, Tussing, Wihler, and Grant, 2014) and telecommunications (Sykes and Venkatesh, 2017). Scholars have also considered various difficult working conditions, such as work stress (Ehsan and Ali, 2019), along with methods and levels of compensation and payment (Menges et al., 2014) and the ideas and attitude of staff (Dane and Brummel, 2013).

Researchers have considered employee performance the most effective variable within the organisation. This factor depends mainly on the employees' readiness and ability to perform their work, leading to increased productivity and performance (Naharuddin and Mohammad, 2013). Moreover, job performance directly affects an organisation's profitability (Bevan, 2012). Conversely, poor job performance will lead to lower productivity, negatively impacting profitability and weakening organisational effectiveness as a whole (Masi and Cooke, 2008; Okoye and Ezejiofor, 2013).

Job performance is a key indicator for judging the success of an organisation and comparing it with other organisations. Discipline within the organisation and the roles clarification of its HR functions, considered the main parts of the organisation, are essential components (Ganahreh, Bello, and Abdullah, 2018). Furthermore, the performance of HR heavily impacts organisation performance; scholars have shown that two organisations, equal in all areas in terms of technology and financial resources, can differ in output based on the performance of their HR (Balel and Abu Sen, 2016).

Researchers have defined job performance from several different perspectives. For example, Sonnentag and Frese (2005) defined this term as a group of activities and behaviours that employees perform to achieve the objectives of the organisation. In contrast, Moorhead and Griffin (1999) saw this concept as an integrated set of employee behaviours that the organisation expects them to offer to perform their work. In a similar vein, job performance has been defined as a set of noticed behaviours offered by employees, which are linked to the achievement of the organisation's objectives (Campbell, McHenry, and Wise, 1990). Going further, Murphy and Kroeker (1988) called this phenomenon an act of an individual's performance on particular tasks that include ideal job descriptions and is influenced by factors such as keeping close interpersonal relations, absenteeism, withdrawal actions, and other actions that raise risks at the workplace.

The government, in an effort to improve productivity, will encourage improving job performance through enhancing the factors that boost it. Recent research has demonstrated a relationship between the development and improvement of organisations and job performance. Thus, the effort to increase productivity necessitates identifying and studying all the primary aspects affecting employee performance. Six of these factors include the workplace environment, organisational structure, knowledge, skills, reward and attitude (Hijry and Haleem, 2017).

Organisations, whether in the private or public sector, generally realise that they must strike a balance between the employees' contribution to the organisation and the contribution of the organisation to the employee. Creating this balance between the organisation and the employee constitutes a vital reason for establishing an appropriate compensation system that will motivate employees to enhance their performance and increase their productivity accordingly (Balogun and Omotoye, 2020). Thus, an organisation that gives employees appropriate salaries and wages for the work they do, along with incentives and rewards, is likely to achieve employee satisfaction and increase their level of performance (Gridwichai et al., 2020).

Performance is a dual task for both individual and organisation, leading to the success of the organisation and achieving its goals while offering a source of satisfaction for the employee (Muchhal, 2014). In the case of Jordan, the country where this study was based, organisations are seeking to improve their performance and achieve their objectives by maintaining qualified HR as the most crucial factor in creating a competitive advantage for the organisation. In a study that investigated the determinants of employees' performance was a critical factor contributing to the success of organisations, with the success or failure of organisations depending on the performance of their employees. He added that because of the enormous competition in the labour market, organisations find themselves forced to try to create and then maintain a competitive advantage. Moreover, globalisation has caused all world economies to share the same situation and face the same difficulties.

On a related note, Al-omari and Okasheh (2017) noted the importance of employee performance in Jordanian organisations. They declared that organisations in Jordan, like other organisations, needed to treat their employees well to preserve their competitive position among international organisations. Since good performance on the part of HR leads to efficient completion of work, factors that enhance performance can increase the competitiveness of these companies in the face of intense global competition.

In another study, Abuhashesh, Al-Dmour, and Masa'deh (2019) sought to identify factors exerting a direct impact on employee satisfaction and performance to motivate them and retain them as long as possible. The factors discussed included salaries and wages, organisational culture, job satisfaction and stress, training, development, promotion and job security. The study found that employees in Jordan's industrial sector focused more on salaries and wages in addition to their job positions than any other factor.

### **1.2.1** Jordan's Economic Situation

Jordan is a small area and a medium-income country compared to neighbouring countries. Scholars see the labour market as a significant and serious challenge facing Jordan since the global economic recession began in 2008. Accordingly, the Jordanian government must focus on establishing suitable jobs for its citizens. The following brief statement on the overall economic situation in Jordan helps to clarify the study problem.

According to the Department of Statistics in Jordan (DOS), Jordan's population has increased from 5.6 million in 2004 to 9.56 million in 2015, reaching 10.56 million in 2020, reflecting growth of 5.3 percent (DOS, 2020). However, Jordan's labour market is weak because of the bad economic situation. According to the World Statistics Pocketbook (WSB), the country's gross domestic product (GDP) declined from 7.9 percent in 2008 to 2.6 percent in 2013, continuing to decrease to 1.8 percent in 2019 (WSB, 2009, 2013, 2019). According to the International Labour Organisation (ILO), these figures resulted in a lack of consensus between the growth of GDP and the number of new workers offered based on the increment of population, as the entry of new labour requires growth in GDP up to 9.3 percent (ILO, 2017). This difference between labour market inputs from Jordanian individuals and the growth of the labour market will lead to compulsory unemployment.

The Jordanian government has heavily focused on creating new job opportunities to reduce the unemployment rate, which was 12.7 percent in 2008 but has reached 19.3 percent in 2020 (DOS, 2020). The most imperative investment was the establishment of qualified industrial estates in many governorates of the Kingdom, aiming to attract foreign investment by accommodating various factories through agreements with the United States of America and other foreign countries. Creating new job opportunities will increase government revenues through exportation and

increase the influx of foreign currencies to maintain the stability of the Jordanian economy.

# **1.2.2** Overview of Jordan Industrial Estates Company (JIEC)

Jordan Industrial Institution was established in 1980 to serve as a facilitator for industrial affairs. Later on, it became one of the main tributaries of the Jordanian economy through the outputs of the companies. The institution was transformed into a company, named Jordan Industrial Estates Company (JIEC), which became the official and legal successor to the institution. The company has carried out numerous projects to promote Jordan through huge infrastructure logistics services, offered to attract foreign investment (Al-Zoubi, 2012).

Jordan is striving to enhance the investment environment through the Investment Law (IL) for 2008, which established JIEC as a private shareholding company. The industrial estates were later defined as developed zones, where the investors receive benefits in the form of the advantages and incentives that the law provides in a serious effort to encourage investment and establish industrial enterprises (Al-Zoubi, 2012).

The company is responsible for establishing, developing and managing the industrial estates in different regions of Jordan, applying unified policies and rules for all estates. The main objective for establishing industrial estates is to provide the appropriate environment and infrastructure necessary to encourage and attract investment and take advantage of benefits provided by the agreements signed with other countries (JIEC, 2018).

# 1.3 Problem Statement

Job performance is a challenge for companies operating in Jordan Industrial Estates. The continued declining in the ratio of local Jordanian employees in these estates to the total number of employees of various nationalities may be an important indicator of their dissatisfaction and performance. The level of salaries and wages can be a particular challenge for those working in these companies affecting their performance. Previous studies examined the effect of salaries and wages on employee performance, but this study tries to examine the effect of the foundations and rules on which salaries and wages are based and how they are allocated to each job separately. This study also attempts to study the employees' perception of justice when comparing themselves to other employees in terms of duties required and salaries paid. However, there is a major factor that has not been studied in the Jordanian industrial estates, which is how internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, and internal pay structure) as independent variables working together in building the salary and wage structure can affect the performance of employees through their perception of fairness in their application.

The variables of this study were studied in several organisations in different countries separately. The gap here is that these variables will be studied for the first time together within the internal alignment in Jordan Industrial Estates. The study problem statement will try to find if there are any relationships between the variables, and determine their effect on job performance in addition to investigating whether organisational justice mediates the relationship between them.

Jordan Industrial Estates should be one of the largest sectors that provide jobs for Jordanian work seekers, as the most crucial purpose of its establishment is the creation of new job opportunities for Jordanians work seekers, in light of the fact that the unemployment rate reached <sup>Y</sup><sup>r</sup> percent in 2020 (DOS, 2020). It was also stipulated that a certain percentage of Jordanians would be employed in these companies in order to reduce the increasing unemployment rate in Jordan. However, the percentage of Jordanian employees out of the total number of employees at factories working in Jordan Industrial Estates is decreasing. According to JIEC, Jordan Chamber of Industry (JCI), and Jordan Ministry of Industry-Trade and Supply (JMITS) reports, Jordanian workers constituted 65.4 percent of the total number of workers in 2008, but this number diminished to 55.6 percent in 2013 and continued to decline, reaching 40.9 percent in 2018 (JIEC, 2008, 2012, 2018; JMITS, 2018; JCI, 2018). Table 1.1 shows the number of companies and workers in JIEC.

Estate	2008	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Number of	512	569	617	743	768	792	869	843
Companies								
Total Number of	38437	33333	39458	48488	44855	45339	56964	55811
Workers								
Jordanian Workers	25155	19076	21933	26242	21082	21205	23521	22843
Foreign Workers	13282	14257	17525	22246	23773	24134	33443	32968
Percentage of	65.4%	57.2%	55.6%	54.1%	47%	46.8%	41.3%	40.9%
Jordanian Workers				1.1				

[Source: JIEC, JCI, JMITS (2008, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018)]

Several decades ago, the wage rate determined the length of employment, but a wide variety of factors now dictate retention. For example, long working hours, low salaries and wages in addition to a poor work environment have created pressure on workers to strike in protest and express their dissatisfaction, pushing some to quit their jobs (Hom, Lee, Shaw, and Hausknecht, 2017). On a related note, Abuhashesh et al. (2019) conducted a study on several factors such as salaries and wages, training, job satisfaction and stress that may have an impact on employees' performance and retention in Jordan's industrial sector. They found that salaries and wages had the most influence on employees' performance and intention to quit.

Internal alignment plays a vital role in employee performance and retention, as it is the main factor affecting their satisfaction by building a suitable pay structure for each job as compared to the tasks required of its occupant. Its techniques application, which include job analysis, job evaluation, as well as internal pay structure, directly affect employees' sense of satisfaction within the organisation, as salaries and wages are the heart of the threat to employee performance and retention. The poor internal alignment increased the feeling of injustice among the employees and led them to many strikes that affected their performance. According to International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC) reports, factory workers went on strike in 2007 to protest low wages: 169 US Dollar (USD) for work of up to 78 hours per week (ITUC, 2008). In addition, according to the Jordanian Labor Watch (JLW), workers have also gone on strike several times from 2011 to the present, in protest against the ongoing violations of their rights and their low salaries (JLW, 2011 and 2019).

Obasan (2012) concluded that compensation strategy is a crucial HR practice in an organisation, having a direct, significant impact on employee performance and productivity as well as the growth of the organisation in general. Therefore, he recommended the necessity of establishing an effective, fair compensation system for employees to achieve their goals and objectives. In addition, Bergmann and Scarpello (2001) stated that fair compensation system can motivate employees to work harder, leading to an increase in their performance and achieving the organisation's expectations and goals.

Furthermore, studies have viewed an organisation's compensation system as a vital element in retaining and improving the level of employee performance. Scholars have also argued that employees' perception of equity and justice in implementing a company's compensation and rewards system motivates them to improve their performance to fulfil their personal capability in pursuit of more rewards and benefits (Baptiste, 2008; Goncharuk and Monat, 2009; Njoroge, Kwasira, Wambui Njoroge, and Kwasira, 2015).

Although many studies noted the relationship between alignment and performance, not all of them have supported the idea that a direct relationship exists between organisational alignment and employee performance. On the other hand, many studies have emphasised the relationship between alignment and performance as a significant relationship under particular conditions (Joshi, Kathuria, and Porth, 2003; Kathuria, Joshi, and Porth, 2007). Moreover, evidence is lacking in support of the idea of an existing relationship between alignment and perceived employees' performance in spite of the importance of outcomes of the alignment to enhance employee's performance. Furthermore, the literature on this subject has neglected horizontal alignment; hence, this topic requires more investigation (Gerow, Thatcher, Grover, and Roth, 2014; Hossain, Sohrab, Jamshid, and Mahmood, 2012).

According to Agburu (2012), equity and justice must be inherent in wages and salaries, at least from employees' point of view. Adding that any unfairness in

salaries and wages will spur employee anger, he emphasised the need for equity and justice in rewarding employees. Moreover, Brown, Sturman and Simmering (2003) argued that not considering justice among various jobs will motivate employees to change jobs, if possible, driving a lack of individual efficiency and satisfaction. In addition, Dickson, Ford and Upchurch (2006) argued that the measured internal alignment significantly relates to a high level of performance and desired outcomes. The researchers added that their survey data indicated a high outcome in terms of job satisfaction resulting from this alignment.

Employees tend to compare their qualifications and the amount of compensation they receive with those for similar jobs in the same organisation to judge pay justice. However, little research has examined the specific factors that affect the perception of equity among employees towards the internal pay structure. Internal alignment has been observed as a main factor in employee satisfaction and performance, but few studies have examined the effect of internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation and internal pay structure) on employee performance in terms of equity and justice.

Besides, significant overlap is observable in current and past studies regarding the extent and how the administration of salary and wages affects job performance. However, most studies did not use appropriate methodologies, since most were based on nonparametric data, which seriously affected their data analysis and consequently influenced their results (Ileka and Muogbo, 2020).

To the researcher's knowledge, no recent studies have shown how internal alignment techniques (job analysis, job evaluation, and internal pay structure) affect employee performance. Moreover, no research has been found to show the effect of internal alignment on employee performance from the point of view of workers in industrial companies in Jordan Industrial Estates. Neither have any studies emerged about organisational justice as a mediating variable in the relationship between internal alignment and job performance. Hence, workers in industrial companies may suspect that they are not compensated with salaries and wages equivalent to the value of work they add. This concern may result in impaired job performance or generate an intention to quit and look for a job elsewhere. Thus, the main purpose of this study is to examine the prediction and mediation effect of organisational justice in the relationship between internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) and job performance.

### 1.4 Research Questions

Based on the problem statement, the study aims to answer the following research questions:

- 1. To what extent do (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) influence job performance among local employees in Jordan Industrial Estates?
- 2. How might local employees perceive justice in the process of internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) in Jordan Industrial Estates?
- 3. How would local employees in Jordan Industrial Estates describe organisational justice as a factor of increased job performance?
- 4. To what extent might organisational justice mediate the relationship between internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) and job performance among local employees in Jordan Industrial Estates?

# 1.5 Research Objectives

The main objective of this study is to examine the prediction and mediation effect of organisational justice in the relationship between internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) and job performance among local employees in Jordan Industrial Estates.

# **Specific Objectives:**

- 1. To evaluate the influence of internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) on job performance among local employees in Jordan Industrial Estates.
- 2. To analyse the employees perception of justice in the process of internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) among local employees in Jordan Industrial Estates.
- 3. To measure whether organisational justice increase job performance among local employees in Jordan Industrial Estates.
- 4. To assess the extent of the mediation effect of organisational justice on the relationship between internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) and job performance among local employees in Jordan Industrial Estates.

# **1.6** Scope of the Study

The main objective of this study is to investigate the mediation effect of organisational justice on the relationship between internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) and job performance among local employees in Jordan Industrial Estates. According to Jordan Ministry of Labour (JML), the workers in the industrial companies operating in the Jordanian industrial estates represent a large percentage up to 37% of the total workers in the industrial sector, which is the largest sector in Jordan. Since it is divided to six sectors; food industries, textile and cotton industries, chemical manufacturing industries, printing and paper industries, engineering industries, and lastly other industries (JML, 2019). The focus of this research is on all these sectors together since it has the same facilities and work environment in the estates, and working under the same investment conditions that had been determined by the government.

Jordan Industrial Estates Company is responsible for establishing, developing and managing the industrial estates in different regions of Jordan. It manages six estates distributed in different parts of Jordan. Two estates in northern Jordan, namely, Al-Hassan Industrial Estate, and Al-Mafraq Industrial Estate, two estates in the middle of Jordan, namely, Al-Muwaqqar Industrial Estate, and Abdullah II Industrial Estate, and two estates in southern of Jordan, namely, Al-Hussein Bin Abdullah II Industrial Estate, and Aqaba International Industrial Estate.

The study focuses on Jordanian workers in the industrial estates in the last twelve years since the beginning of the global economic crisis, their feeling towards the companies where they work, in addition to their satisfaction with the level of wages and salaries they receive and its impact on their performance. This research study includes three independent variables: job analysis, job evaluation and internal pay structure (salary and wage). Meanwhile, the dependent variable is employee job performance, and the mediating variable is organisational justice.

The researcher believes that achieving the aforementioned objectives is critical to investigating the level of performance of Jordanian workers in the industrial estates, as well as the factors affecting their performance level, in order to propose feasible solutions. All 843 factories operating in Jordan Industrial Estates have been selected for study. Within the scope of this research, it is expected that a lack of internal alignment (job analysis, job evaluation, internal pay structure) leads to a low level of performance accompanied by an intention to leave work. This study aims to answer the questions related to the study problem to discover any relationship between these factors and employees' performance. The investigation also seeks to identify the effect of organisational justice as a mediating variable on the relationship between the study variables.

# 1.7 Significance of the Study

Many studies have evaluated alignment as a fit between levels, practices and functions within an organisation as well as outside factors and their influence on their performance (Alegre and Chiva, 2004; Joshi et al., 2003; Kathuria et al., 2007; Sun and Hong, 2002). This study suggests that internal alignment affects employees' job performance and examines the relationship between internal alignment, organisational justice and job performance. Throughout this study, the researcher presents the greatest reasons for establishing aligned compensation system to increase employee performance. This research area is significant, as previous researchers did not assign the utmost importance the fair wages and salaries of workers as a motivator for work, especially in the face of employers who are trying to maximise profits by minimising costs, including salaries and wages.

The findings of this study could help both scholars and practitioners understand how the implementation of equity and justice during the development of an internal pay structure can lead to raising the level of job performance. The contributions of this study provide new insights to the body of knowledge in this field, closing the research gap in this area. Hopefully, the study will encourage new research on other variables relating to equity theory that may affect this relationship. This study has both theoretical and practical implications.

From a theoretical perspective, this study contributes to literature related to job performance as well as compensation in industrial companies. This study provides an additional insight into the role of internal alignment by applying correct rules and procedures to build the wage and salary structure, so that they make jobs proportional to each other in terms of the percentage of wages paid to the effort made by their occupants. This study provides a perception of how the foundations upon which the internal wage structure is built, including job analysis and job evaluation, affects employees' satisfaction with their payments and how this affects their performance.

Compared to previous studies, this study focuses on the necessity of paying fair wages and salaries commensurate with the effort and performance of employees in their jobs. On a related note, the research examines preferred ways to grant fair pay structure for employees. Thus, this study aims to contribute knowledge to lay a foundation for future studies on the adequacy and fairness of employees' salaries and wages to encourage them to enhance their performance, increasing organisational performance to helps achieve the organisation's goals and aspirations.

Besides, this study contributed to providing an additional insight on the role of a perception of fairness among employees towards their jobs by comparing it with other jobs within the organisation, through organisational justice as a mediating variable between its variables. This study also contributes to management,

compensation and performance research by adding further insights on the role of the pay model and equity theory in achieving justice among employees by taking into account the proportionality between the tasks they perform and the compensation they receive.

From practical perspective, the outcomes of this study can be extended to all types of organisations, allowing any organisation management to use the principles reported in establishing or developing their compensation practices and functions to achieve high levels of performance. The information gathered through this study provides the top organisational management with a better understanding of internal alignment in terms of its components (job analysis, job evaluation and internal pay structure) and how it affects employee performance. Furthermore, this study might raise organisations management awareness in to the importance of aligning between salaries paid and the required tasks, by evaluating each job separately and comparing it to other similar jobs inside and outside the organisation.

# 1.8 Definition of Terms

The following subsections offer definitions for the terms independent, dependent, and mediator variables as it is mentioned in the previous literature related to the study area, in addition to the way that it is used in this research study:

# 1.8.1 Internal Alignment

This term represents a process of comparing jobs or level of knowledge and skills within an organisation. The process compares the jobs and skills of the workers employed in terms of their relative participation in achieving the organisation's goals. The concept relates to the level of employees' salaries and wages, whether they perform similar or different jobs. Internal alignment implies equal wages for jobs of equal value and satisfactory pay differentials for jobs of different worth (Milkovich, Gerhart, and Gerhart, 2013). For the current study, the same definition provided by the experts in this area was used.

# 1.8.2 Job Analysis

This term refers to a practice that determines and explains what the organisation should do and what qualifications and requirements a person would need to effectively furnish the organisation's needs (Mello, 2011). As an operational definition, job analysis was expressed in a set of procedures and standards set by the organisation in order to determine the requirements of each job and the tasks required to be performed, in addition to the qualifications and skills required to be available in the candidate to occupy that position.

# **1.8.3** Job Evaluation

This phrase describes the process by which the relative value of a job is determined within the organisation. Skills, responsibilities, knowledge, individual abilities and conditions associated with the job must be taken into consideration. Thus, the job evaluation process determines which jobs are needed by the organisation more than others (Amos, Ristow, and Ristow, 2004). In the present research, job evaluation was used as a set of criteria applied by the organisation in evaluating each job by confirming that the required tasks correspond to the qualifications of the incumbent and is proportional to the salary and wage allocated to the incumbent, in addition to comparing that with similar and dissimilar jobs inside and outside the organisation.

# 1.8.4 Internal Pay Structure

This concept involves the order of pay rates for similar and dissimilar jobs inside a single organisation (Milkovich et al., 2013). For the purpose of the present study, the concept was expressed as the amount of the salary and wage that an employee receives for the work he does for various jobs and positions within the organisation.

# 1.8.5 Organisational Justice

This term involves the methods that are recognised as behaviours or decisions that are comprehended to be morally right on the basis of fairness and equity, by which employees decide if they are equitably treated in their positions (Swalhi, Zgoulli, and Hofaidhllaoui, 2017). Organisational justice was used by the researcher in the current study on the basis of the degree of fairness with which employees perceive organisational procedures, rules and policies related to their job duties and result in determining the wages and salaries they receive

# 1.8.6 Job Performance

This concept comprises a set of actions, activities and behaviours that employees actually do, which contribute to achieving the goals of the organisation. Thus, performance is not the consequence or result of action but represents the action itself (Campbell and Wiernik, 2015). Job performance was defined from the operational view through the employees' expression of their satisfaction with the way they perform the duties assigned for them by the organisation in each job, in addition to the way they deal and perform collectively with their colleagues at work through their cooperation in performing their duties.

# 1.9 Thesis Organisation

This study comprises of five chapters covering different areas of the study, organised as shown below:

Chapter one provides a general introduction that includes the study background, problem statement, objectives and research questions, and study hypotheses, in addition to the scope and significance of the study, and lastly the definition of the terminology used in the study.

Chapter two presents review and discussion of the literature related to the study variables. Likewise, the chapter describes the theories upon which the study was based, concluding with the development of the study hypotheses in addition to the theoretical and conceptual framework.

Chapter three explains the methodology followed in this study. The study design, the philosophy of the study, the targeted population and the procedures of selecting the study sample are included. The chapter also describes the data collection instrument and the measures of the variables, in addition to providing an introduction to the statistical methods used in data analysis.

Chapter four presents the study findings and explores the relationships between the study variables. These results are also interpreted, discussed and compared to the previous related literature. Chapter five, the last chapter of the study, provides a general summary of the study and its results, the study implications and limitations, followed by the conclusion and recommendations for future studies. Lastly, the appendices are attached, such as the questionnaire, and biodata of the researcher.

#### REFERENCES

- Abbas, Q., & Yaqoob, S. (2009). Effect of Leadership Development on Employees Performance in Pakistan. *Pakistan Economic and Social Review*, 47(2), 269– 292.
- Abiodun, D. J. (1999). Performance System in the Civil Service, Problems and Prospects, Seminar paper presented in the Department of Sociology, University of Ibadan.
- Aboazoum, H. M. E., Nimran, U., & Al Musadieq, M. (2015). Analysis Factors Affecting Employees Job Performance in Libya. *IOSR Journal of Business* and Management, 17(7), 42–49. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-17714249.
- Abuhashesh, M., Al-Dmour, R., & Masa'deh, R. (2019). Factors that Affect Employees Job Satisfaction and Performance to Increase Customers' Satisfactions. *Journal of Human Resources Management Research*, 2019, 2166–2184. https://doi.org/10.5171/2019.354277.
- Adams, J. S. (1963). Toward an Understanding of Inequity. *Journal of Abnormal* and Social Psychology, 67(5), 422–436.
- Adams, J. Stacy. (1965). Inequity In Social Exchange. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 2, 267–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60108-2.
- Adams, R. (2000). *Addressing Employee Concern* (2nd ed.). University of Virginia: Falls Church Campus.
- Adeniji, A., A., & Osibanjo, O., A. (2012). Human Resource Management: Theory and Practice. *Pumark Nigeria Limited*, 1(1), 437.
- Aeknarajindawat, N., & Jermsittiparsert, K. (2020). Does organization justice influence the organization citizenship behavior, job satisfaction & organization outcomes? *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy*, 11(1), 489–496. https://doi.org/10.5530/srp.2020.1.61.
- Agarwal, R. N. (2016). A Study on The Relationship of Employee Satisfaction VIZ-A-VIZ Attitude and Perception of The Employees Towards the Organization. *International Journal of Information, Business and Management*, 8(1), 67–87.
- Agburu, J. I. (2012). Recent Trends in Wage and Salary Administration in Nigeria: A Synopsis on Theoretical and Empirical Challenges. *International Journal* of Basic and Applied Science, 1(2), 257–268.

- Ahmad, S., & Shahzad, K. (2011). HRM and Employee Performance: A Case of University Teachers of Azad Jammu and Kashmir (AJK) in Pakistan. African Journal of Business Management, 5(13), 5249–5253. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajbm10.1605.
- Aidla, A. (2013). Perceptions of Negative Inequity at Work and the Behavior of Individuals. *GSTF Business Review (GBR)*, 2(3), 234.
- Akerlof, G., & Yellen, J. (1988). Fairness and Unemployment. American Economic Review, 78(2), 44–49. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1818095.
- Akerlof, G., & Yellen, J. (1990). The Fair Wage-Effort Hypothesis and Unemployment. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 105(2), 255–283. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2937787.
- Akter, N., & Moazzam, H. M. (2016). Effect of Compensation on Job Performance : An Empirical Study. International Journal of Engineering Technology, Management and Applied Sciences, 4(8), 103–116.
- Akuto, D. K. (2016). Perceived effect of job evaluation on employee job satisfaction at postal corporation of Kenya in Nairobi County. A research project submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the award of the degree of master of business administration, School of Business. University of Nairobi.
- Al-Omari, K., & Okasheh, H. (2017). The Influence of Work Environment on Job Performance: A Case Study of Engineering Company in Jordan. *International Journal of Applied Engineering Research*, 12(24), 15544– 15550.
- Al-Zoubi, D. M. T. (2012). The Shape of The Relationship Between Salary and Job Satisfaction: A Field Study. Far East Journal of Psychology and Business, 7(3), 1–12.
- Aladwan, K. M. (2012). The Impact of Human Resource Management Practices on Employees 'Attitude in Jordanian Organisations (Issue April). Charles Sturt University.
- Alagaraja, M., & Shuck, B. (2015). Exploring Organizational Alignment-Employee Engagement Linkages and Impact on Individual Performance a Conceptual Model. *Human Resource Development Review*, 14(1), 17–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484314549455.
- Alam, T. (2012). Factors Affecting Job Satisfaction, Motivation and Turnover Rate of Medical Promotion Officer (MPO) in Pharmaceutical Industry: A Study Based in Khulna City. Asian Business Review, 1(1), 126–131.

- AlamEdien, G. A. (2015). Effects of Job Analysis on Personnel Innovation. International Journal of Business and Management Invention, 4(10), 9–18.
- Albrecht, S. L., Bakker, A. B., Gruman, J. A., Macey, W. H., & Saks, A. M. (2015). Employee Engagement, Human Resource Management Practices and Competitive Advantage: An Integrated Approach. *Journal of Organizational Effectiveness: People and Performance*, 2(1), 7–35.
- Alegre, J., & Chiva, R. (2004). Alignment Between Product Innovation and Competitive Priorities. *International Journal of Business Performance Management*, 6(3–4), 287–297.
- Alfonso, S., & Andres, S.-P. (2007). The Effect of Job Satisfaction on Labor Turnover by Gender. Switzerland Journal of Socioeconomics, 3(6), 859–913.
- Altrasi, M. A. (2014). Determinants of Performance among Public Sector Managers in Saudi Arabia : An Analysis of the Organizational Factors and Job Attitudes. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research*, 22(3), 409–416. https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.mejsr.2014.22.03.21902.
- Amos, T., Ristow, A., & Ristow, L. (2004). *Human Resource Management* (2nd ed.). Lansdowne: Jutas.
- Andreas, C. (1971). Andreas' Reply to Bendix Speech. Insurgent Sociologist, 1(4), 4–5.
- Anesukanjanakul, J., Banpot, K., & Jermsittiparsert, K. (2019). Factors That Influence Job Performance of Agricultural Workers. *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change*, 7(2), 71–86.
- Anitha, J. (2014). Determinants of Employee Engagement and Their Impact on Employee Performance. International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, 63(3), 308–323. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-01-2013-0008.
- Ann, G., Gilley, J. W., Qatro, S. A., & Dixon, P. (2009). Praeger Handbook of Human Resource Management (1st ed.). Greenwood Publishing Group USA.
- Anthony, W. P., Kacmar, K. M., & Perrewe, P. L. (2002). *Human Resource Management: A Strategic Approach* (4th ed.). New York: SouthWestern.
- Armstrong, M. (2006). A Handbook of Human Resource Management Practice (10th ed.). Kogan Page Publishing, London.
- Armstrong, M. (2011). A Handbook of Human Resource Management Practices. (11th ed.). Kogan Page.

- Armstrong, Mi., & Taylor, S. (2014). Armstrong's Handbook of Human Resource Management Practice (13th ed.). Kogan Page Publishing, London.
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., Sorensen, C. K., & Walker, D. A. (2014). Introduction to Research in Education (9th, Kindle ed.). Online e-book.
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L., & Sorensen, C. (2006). Introduction to Research in Education (8th ed.). Belmont: Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Aryee, S., Chen, Z. X., & Budhwar, P. S. (2004). Exchange Fairness and Employee Performance: An Examination of The Relationship Between Organizational Politics and Procedural Justice. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 94(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2004.03.002.
- Asensio-Cuesta, S., Diego-Mas, J. A., Cremades, L. ., & González-Cruz, M. C. (2012). A Method to Design Job Rotation Schedules to Prevent Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders in Repetitive Work. *International Journal* of Production Research, 50(24), 7467–7478.
- Ashraf, M. A. (2020). Demographic factors, compensation, job satisfaction and organizational commitment in private university: an analysis using SEM. *Journal of Global Responsibility*, *11*(4), 407–436. https://doi.org/10.1108/jgr-01-2020-0010.
- Ashraf, M., Vveinhardt, J., Ahmed, R. R., Streimikiene, D., & Mangi, A. R. (2018). Exploring Intervening Influence of Interactional Justice Between Procedural Justice and Job Performance: Evidence from South Asian Countries. *Amfiteatru Economic*, 20(47), 169–184. https://doi.org/10.24818/ea/2018/47/169.
- Atchison, T. A. (2003). Wage and Salary Administration. *Personnel Administrator*, *January*, 254.
- Atteya, N. M. (2012). Testing the Impact of the Human Resource Management Practices on Job Performance: An Empirical Study in The Egyptian Joint Venture Petroleum Companies. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3(9).
- Avison, D., Jones, J., Powell, P., & Wilson, D. (2004). Using and Validating the Strategic Alignment Model. *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, *13*, 223–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsis.2004.08.002.
- Aydogdu, S., & Asikgil, B. (2011). An Empirical Study of The Relationship Among Job Satisfaction, Organizational Commitment and Turnover Intention. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 1(3), 43–53.

- Aziri, B. (2011). Job Satisfaction: A Literature Review. *Management Research and Practice*, *3*(4), 77–86.
- Baard, S. K., Rench, T. A., & Kozlowski, S. W. J. (2014). Performance Adaptation: A Theoretical Integration and Review. *Journal of Management*, 40(2), 48–99.
- Babagana, A., & Dungus, B. (2015). Staff Renumeration and the Performance of Ramat Polytechnic Maiduguri Students. *European Journal of Research and Reflection in Management Science*, 3(5), 1–10.
- Balel, A., & Abu Sen, A. (2016). The Impact of Organizational Conflict on The Performance of Workers in Sudanese Commercial Banks. *Journal of Economic Sciences*, 1(17).
- Balogun, A. R., & Omotoye, O. O. (2020). Remuneration and Employee Performance in Global Communication Limited , Lagos Nigeria . *Journal of Business and Management*, 22(2), 15–21. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-2202041521.
- Banker, R. D., Bu, D., & Mehta, M. (2016). Pay Gap and Performance in China. *Abacus*, 52(3), 501–531. https://doi.org/10.1111/abac.12082.
- Baptiste, N. R. (2008). Tightening the Link Between Employee Wellbeing at Work and Performance. *Management Decision*, 46(2), 284–309.
- Barney, J. B., & Wright, P. M. (1997). On Becoming a Strategic Partner: The Role of Human Resources in Gaining Competitive Advantage.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. a. (1986). The Moderator-Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research: Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173–1182. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173.
- Barry, C. (2003). *Handbook of Model Job Description* (1st ed.). Kogan Page, London N1 9JN, United Kingdom.
- Bayon, S. (2013). The Origin, Concept and Value of Performance Appraisal. International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management, 1(2), 1– 17.
- Belias, D., Koustelios, A., Sdrolias, L., Koutiva, M., Zournatzi, E., & Varsanis, K. (2014). Motivation and Job Satisfaction Among Medical and Nursing Staff. *Prime*, 7, 71–87.
- Bello, K., & Adebajo, W. (2014). Innovative Human Resource Management and Corporate Performance in The Context of Economic Liberalization in India. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 11, 19–29.

- Berg, B., L. (2004). qualitative Research Methods for Social Science (4th ed.). Pearson.
- Bergmann;, T. J., & Scarpello, V. G. (2001). *Compensation Decision Making* (4th ed.). Fort Worth, TX : Harcourt College Publishers.
- Bevan, S. (2012). Airway Management in Post Anaesthetic Care. *Journal of Perioperative Practice*, 22(4), 2012.
- Bhatt, R., & Sharma, M. (2019). Compensation and Employee Turnover Intention: A study with Respect to IT/ITES Industries Conducted in Gandhinagar City. *International Journal of Research and Analytical Reviews*, 6(1), 374–377.
- Bloom, M., & Michel, J. G. (2002). The Relationships among Organizational Context, Pay Dispersion, and Managerial Turnover. Academy of Management Journal, 45(1), 33–42. https://doi.org/10.2307/3069283.
- Bognanno, M. (2001). Corporate Tournaments. Journal of Labor Economics, 19(2), 290–315.
- Bojadziev, M., Misoska, A. T., Peshev, A., & Stefanovska, M. (2016). Organizational Alignment in Ict Company in the Republic of Macedonia. *Business and Economic Research*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.5296/ber.v6i2.10258.
- Boon, L. K., Fern, Y. S., Sze, C. C., & Stanley. (2012). Factors Affecting Individual Job Performance. International Conference on Management, Economics and Finance (ICMEF 2012) Proceeding, March 2016.
- Borman, W. C., & Motowidlo, S. J. (1993). Expanding the Criterion Domain to Include Elements of Contextual Perfor- mance. In Schmitt, N. and Borman, W.C., Eds., Personnel Selection in Organizations (pp. 71–98). Jossey-Bass, San Francisco.
- Boselie, P., Dietz, G., & Boon, C. (2005). Commonalities and Contradictions in HRM And Performance Research. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 15(3), 67–94.
- Bowin, R. B., & Harvey, D. (2001). *Human Resource Management an Experiential Approach* (2nd ed.). Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River.
- Boxall, P. (1996). The Strategic HRM Debate and The Resource-Based View of The Firm. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 6(3), 59–75.
- Bratton, J., & Gold, J. (2007). *Human Resource Management: Theory and Practice* (4th ed.). Palgrave Macmillan. London.

- Brislin, R. (1980). Translation and Content Analysis of Oral and Written Materials. In H. C. Triandis & J. W. Berry (Eds.).Handbook of cross-cultural psychology: Methodology, (2nd ed., pp. 389–444). MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Brown, M. P., Sturman, M. C., & Simmering, M. J. (2003). Compensation Policy and Organizational Performance: The Efficiency, Operational, And Financial Implications of Pay Levels and Pay Structure. Academy of Management Journal, 46(6), 752–762.
- Brown, Mark P., Sturman, M. C., & Simmering, M. J. (2003). Compensation Policy and Organizational Performance: The Efficiency, Operational, And Financial Implications of Pay Levels and Pay Structure. Academy of Management Journal, 46(6), 752–762. https://doi.org/10.2307/30040666.
- Bryman, A., & Cramer, D. (2005). *Quantitative Data Analysis with SPSS 12 and* 13: A Guide for Social Sscientists. Psychology Press. ISBN-13: 978-0415340809.
- Bryman, Alan. (1988). Quantity and Quality in Social Research. In M. Bulmer (Ed.), *Social Research Methods* (pp. 353–377). Unwin Hyman Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203410028.
- Bussiness Essay. (2018). Definition Of Internal Alignment And External Competitiveness Business Essay. Essays, UK.
- Buttner, E. H., & Lowe, K. B. (2017). The Relationship Between Perceived Pay Equity, Productivity, and Organizational Commitment for U.S. Color. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journalpp*, *36*(1), 100–123. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/EDI-02-2016-0016%0D.
- Byars, L. L., & Rue, L. W. (2006). *Human Resource Management* (8th ed.). New York: The McGraw-Hill.
- Byrne, B. M. (2001). Structural Equation Modelling with AMOS, EQS, and LISREL: Comparative Approaches to Testing for The Factorial Validity of A Measuring Instrument. *International Journal of Testing*, 1(1), 55–86.
- Byrne, B. M. (2010). Structural Equation Modeling with AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming (Multivariate aApplications Series). Taylor & Francis Group. New York.
- Calvin, O. Y. (2017). The Impact of Remuneration on Employees'Performance (a Study of Abdul Gusau Polytechnic, Talata-Mafara and State College of Education Maru, Zamfara State). *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 4(2), 34–43.

- Campbell, J., McCloy, R., & Sager, C. (1993). A Theory of Performanc. In Schmitt and Borman eds. Personnel Selection in Organizations. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Campbell, J. P., McHenry, J. J., & Wise, L. L. (1990). Modelling Job Performance in A Population of Jobs. *Personnel Psychology*, 43(2), 231–379.
- Campbell, J. P., & Wiernik, B. M. (2015). The Modeling and Assessment of Work Performance. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032414-111427.
- Cania, L. (2014). The Impact of Strategic Human Resource Management on Organizational Performance. *Economia. Seria Management*, 17(2), 373–383.
- Casico, W. (1998). Managing Human Resources. Boston: Irwin/McGraw-Hill.
- Chapman, R. (2006). Simple Tools and Techniques for Enterprise Risk Management (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Charbonnier-voirin, A., & Roussel, P. (2012). Adaptive Performance : A New Scale to Measure Individual Performance in Organizations. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1002/CJAS.232.
- Chee, W. C., Haddad, K., & Singh, G. (2007). Human Resources Management, Job Satisfaction Morale, Optimisim, and Turnover. *International Journal of Hospitality* & *Tourism* Administration, 8(2), 73–88. https://doi.org/10.1300/J149v08n02.
- Chen, C. X., & Sandino, T. (2012). Can Wages Buy Honesty? The Relationship Between Relative Wages and Employee Theft. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 50(4), 967–1000.
- Chen, X.-H., Zhao, K., Liu, X., & Wu, D. D. (2002). Improving Employees' Job Satisfaction and Innovation Performance Using Conflict Management. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 89(2), 1215. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-5978(02)00040-7.
- Chen, X.-H., Zhao, K., Liu, X., & Wu, D. D. (2012). Improving Employees' Job Satisfaction and Innovation Performance Using Conflict Management. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 23(2), 151–172. https://doi.org/10.1108/10444061211218276.
- Churchill, G. (1979). A Paradigm for Developing Better Measures of Marketing Constructs. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *16*(1), 64–73. https://doi.org/doi:10.2307/3150876.

- Churchill, G. A., & Iacobucci, D. (2002). *Marketing Research: Methodological Foundation* (8th ed.). New York, NY: USA.
- Ciborra, C. (1997). De Profundis? Deconstructing The Concept of Strategic Alignment. *IRIS Conference*.
- Clifford, J. (1994). Job Analysis: Why Do It and How Should It Be Done? *Public Personnel Management*, 23, 321–340.
- Coakes, J. C., & Ong, C. (2011). SPSS Version 18.0 for Windows Analysis Without Anguish (1st ed.). Dougall Street, Milton: John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd.
- Cohen-Charash, Y., & Spector, P. E. (2001). The Role of Justice in Organizations: A Meta-Analysis. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 86(2), 278-321.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S. G., & Aiken, L. S. (2003). Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for The Behavioral Sciences (3rd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Colquitt, J. A. (2001). On the Dimensionality of Organizational Justice: A Construct Validation of A Measure. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(3), 386–400. https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-9010.86.3.386.
- Cooper, D., & Schindler, P. (2008). *Business Research Methods* (10th ed.). New York, McGraw-Hill/Irwin.
- Cowherd, D. M., & Levine, D. I. (1992). Product Quality and Pay Equity Between Lower-Level Employees and Top Management: An Investigation of Distributive Justice Theory. Administrative Science Quarterly, 37(2), 302. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393226.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research Design Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, W. (2003). Research Design: Qualitatrive, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cropanzano R, Rupp DE, B. Z. (2003). The Relationship of Emotional Exhaustion to Work Attitudes, Job Performance, and Organizational Citizenship Behaviors. J Ournal of Appl Psychology, 88(1), 160.
- Cropanzano, R., Prehar, C. A., & Chen, P. Y. (2002). Using Social Exchange Theory to Distinguish Procedural from Interactional Justice. *Group & Organization Management*, 27(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601102027003002.

- Crosby, F. (1984). The Denial of Personal Discrimination. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 27(3), 371–386.
- Crosby, Faye. (1976). A model of Egoistical Relative Deprivation. *Psychological Review*, 83(2), 85–113. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.83.2.85.
- Cross, S. (2004). Human Resources Management Tools. Prentice Hall: New Jersey.
- Dahkoul, Z. M. (2018). The Determinants of Employee Performance in Jordanian Organizations. *Journal of Economics, Finance and Accounting (JEFA)*, 5(1), 11–17. https://doi.org/10.17261/pressacademia.2018.780.
- Dai, Y., Kong, D., & Xu, J. (2017). Does Fairness Breed Efficiency? Pay Gap and Firm Productivity in China. *International Review of Economics and Finance*, 48(December 2015), 406–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iref.2017.01.003.
- Danaeifar, I., Hasani, S., Kaviani, S., Abed, A., & Abangah, A. (2016). The Relationship between Organizational Justice and Political Behavior and Employees' Job Performance of the Electricity Distribution Department of Behbahan. *The Caspian Sea Journal*, 1(4), 286–291.
- Dane, E., & Brummel, B. J. (2013). Examining Workplace Mindfulness and Its Relations to Job Performance and Turnover Intention. *Human Relations*, *3*(January). https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726713487753.
- Danso, D., Umeh, D., Emmanuel, Y., Nkrumah, S., & Tony, W. (2013). Effects of Rewards Systems on Employee's Performance. *Journal of Management*, 12(1), 112–123.
- Das, B., & Garcia-Diaz, A. (2001). Factor Selection Guidelines for Job Evaluation: A Statistical Procedure (No. 40).
- DeConinck, J. B., & Stilwell, C. D. (2004). Incorporating Organizational Justice, Role States, Pay Satisfaction and Supervisor Satisfaction in A Model of Turnover Intentions. *Journal of Business Research*, 57(3), 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(02)00289-8.
- Deconinck, J., & Bachmann, D. (2007). The Impact of Equity Sensitivity and Pay Fairness on Marketing Managers? Job Satisfaction, Organizational Commitment, And Turnover Intentions. *Marketing Management Journal.*, 17(2), 134–141.
- Decramer, A., Smolders, C., & Vanderstraeten, A. (2013). Employee Performance Management Culture and System Features in Higher Education: Relationship with Employee Performance Management Satisfaction. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 24(2), 382–372.

- DeGraaf-Zijl, M. (2012). Job Satisfaction and Contingent Employment. *Economist*, 160(2), 197–218.
- Dessler, G. (2003). *Human Resource Management* (9th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Dessler, G. (2006). A Framework for Human Resource Management. Pearson Education India.
- Dessler, G. (2011). Human Resource Management (12th ed.). Prentice-Hall, USA.
- Deutsch, M. (1975). Equity, Equality, And Need: What Determines Which Value Will Be Used as The Basis of Distributive Justice? *Journal of Social Issues*, 31(3), 137–149.
- Dickson, D. R., Ford, R. C., & Upchurch, R. (2006). A case study in hotel organizational alignment. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 25(3), 463–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2005.02.006.
- Doerr, K. H., Mitchell, T. R., Freed, T., Schriesheim, C. A., & Zhou, X. (2004). Work Flow Policy and Within-Worker and Between-Workers Variability in Performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(5), 911–921. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.5.911.
- Downes, P. E., & Choi, D. (2014). Employee Reactions to Pay Dispersion: A Typology of Existing Research. *Human Resource Management Review*, 24(1), 53–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2013.08.009.
- Dugguh, I. S., & Dennis, A. (2014). Job Satisfaction Theories: Traceability to Employee Performance in Organizations. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 16(5), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.9790/487x-16511118.
- Dziuba, S. T., Ingaldi, M., & Zhuravskaya, M. (2020). Employees' Job Satisfaction and their Work Performance as Elements Influencing Work Safety. System Safety: Human - Technical Facility - Environment, 2(1), 18–25. https://doi.org/10.2478/czoto-2020-0003.
- Edirisooriya, W. A. (2014). Impact of Rewards on Employee Performance: With Special Reference to ElectriCo. *Reshaping Management and Economic Thinking through Integrating Eco-Friendly and Ethical Practices Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Management and Economics, February*, 311–318.
- Ehsan, M., & Ali, K. (2019). The Impact of Work Stress on Employee Productivity: Based in the Banking sector of Faisalabad, Pakistan. *International Journal of Innovation and Economic Development*, 4(6), 24–41.

- El-Hajji, M. A. (2011). Wage consistency in the context of job evaluation: An analytical view. *International Journal of Business & Social Science*, 2(10), 31–37.
- Elizabeth, B. K. (2017). Effect of Job Evaluation on Employee Job Satisfaction: a Comparative Analysis of Male and Female Employees At Airtel. University of Nairobi.
- Elnaga, A., & Imran, A. (2013). The Effect of Training on Employee Work. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 26(3), 399–405. https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.wasj.2013.26.03.1379.
- Ensley, M. D., Pearson, A. W., & Sardeshmukh, S. R. (2007). The Negative Consequences of Pay Dispersion in Family and Non-Family Top Management Teams: An Exploratory Analysis of New Venture, High-Growth Firms. *Journal of Business Research*, 60(10), 1039–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.12.012.
- Essien, E. A. (2005). Exchange Rate Pass-Through to Inflation in Nigeria. West African Journal of Monetary and Economic Intergration (First Half), 5(1).
- Faleye, O., Reis, E., & Venkateswaran, A. (2013). The Determinants and Effects of CEO-Employee Pay Ratios. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 37(8), 3258– 3272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2013.03.003.
- Falkenburg, K., & Schyns, B. (2007). Work Satisfaction, Organizational Commitment and Withdrawal Behaviors 30. *Management Research News*, 10, (708-723.
- Falola, O., H., Ibidunni, S, A., & Olokundun, M., A. (2014). Incentives Packages and Employees' Attitudes to Work: A Study of Selected Government Parastatals in Ogun State, South-West, Nigeria. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science IJRBS*, 3(1), 2147–4478.
- Fehr, E., & Schmidt, K. M. (1999). A Theory of Fairness, Competition, and Cooperation. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 114(3), 817–868.
- Field, A. (2009). Discovering Statistics Using SPSS (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Fields, D., Pang, M., & Chiu, C. (2000). Distributive and Procedural Justice as Predictors of Employee Outcomes in Hong Kong. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21, 547–562.
- Firth, M., Leung, T. Y., & Rui, O. M. (2010). Justifying Top Management Pay in A Transitional Economy. *Journal of Empirical Finance*, *17*(5), 852–866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jempfin.2010.06.002.

- Folger, R., & Konovsky, M. A. (1989). Effects of Procedural and Distributive Justice on Reactions to Pay Raise Decisions. Academy of Management Journal, 32(1), 115–130. https://doi.org/10.2307/256422.
- Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18(1), 39–50.
- Frye, M. B. (2004). Equity-Based Compensation for Employees: Firm Performance and Determinants. *The Journal of Financial Research*, 27(1), 31–54. https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/j.1475-6803.2004.00076.x
- Ganahreh, E. A., Bello, B., & Abdullah, F. (2018). The Impact of Administrative Control on Employees' Performance: Evidence from Industrial Companies in Jordan. *International Journal of Accounting, Finance and Business*, 3(10), 52–66.
- George, R., & Jayan, C. (2013). Moderating Role of Organizational Culture on Job Attitude and Personal Effectiveness. *Anvesha*, 6(4).
- Gerow, J., Thatcher, J. B., Grover, V., & Roth, P. (2014). Looking Toward The Future of IT–Business Strategic Alignment Through The Past: A Meta-Analysis. *MIS Quarterly*, 38(4), 1159–1185.
- Glisson, C. (2015). The Role of Organizational Culture and Climate in Innovation and Effectiveness. *Human Service Organizations, Management, Leadership* & Governance, 3131(September). https://doi.org/10.1080/23303131.2015.1087770.
- Gomathi, S., & Mathew, G. D. C. (2020). A review on the non-monetary factors that contribute towards employee retention. *Journal of Critical Reviews*, 7(12), 351–353. https://doi.org/10.31838/jcr.07.12.65.
- Goncharuk, A. G., & Monat, J. P. (2009). A Synergistic Performance Management Model Conjoining Benchmarking and Motivation. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, *16*(6), 767–784. https://doi.org/10.1108/14635770911000105.
- Goodwin, G. P., Piazza, J., & Rozin, P. . (2014). Moral character predominates in person perception and evaluation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *106*(1), 148.
- Gori, A., Topino, E., Palazzeschi, L., & Di Fabio, A. (2020). How can organizational justice contribute to job satisfaction? A chained mediation model. *Sustainability* (*Switzerland*), 12(19), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU12197902.

- Gratton, L., & Truss, C. (2003). The three-dimensional people strategy: Putting human. *Academy of Management Executive*, 17(3). https://doi.org/10.5465/AME.2003.10954760.
- Greenberg, J. (2007). *Ten good reasons why everyone needs to know about and study organizational justice*. Bowen Hills, Queensland, Australia: Australian Academic Press.
- Gridwichai, P., Kulwanich, A., Piromkam, B., & Kwanmuangvanich, P. (2020). Role of personality traits on employees job performance in pharmaceutical industry in Thailand. *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy*, 11(3), 185–194. https://doi.org/10.5530/srp.2020.3.21.
- Gunawan, H., & Amalia, R. (2015). Wages and Employees Performance: The Quality of Work Life as Moderator. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, 5(special issue), 349–353.
- Gupta, N., & Conroy, S. A. (2012). The Many Faces of Pay Variation. *Human Resource Management Review*, 22(2), 100–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HRMR.2011.12.001.
- Haddock-Millar, J., Sanyal, C., & Müller-Camen, M. (2016). Green Human Resource Management: A Comparative Qualitative Case Study of A United States Multinational Corporation. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 27(2), 192–211.
- Hailemariam, D. A., Shan, X., Chung, S. H., Khasawneh, M. T., Lukesh, W., Park,
  A., & Rose, A. (2019). Developing An Appropriate Staff Mix for
  Anticoagulation Clinics: Functional Job Analysis Approach. Journal of Industrial Engineering International, 15(1), 103–118.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010). *Multivariate Data Analysis* (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Hair, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C., & Sarstedt, M. (2016). A primer on partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM). *Sage Publications*.
- Hair, Joseph F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2006). *Multivariate Data Analysis* (6th ed.): A global perspective, Prentice Hall, Pearson Education, Inc.
- Haque, A. Bin, Mahmud, A. Al, & Hossain, A. (2019). Influence of Compensation and Organizational Culture on Employee Performance: A Study on IT Firms of Dhaka, Bangladesh. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 9(3), 101. https://doi.org/10.5296/ijhrs.v9i3.15048.

- Hartog, D. N. Den, Boon, C., Verburg, R. M., & Croon, M. A. (2012). HRM, Communication, Satisfaction, and Perceived Performance: A Cross-Level Test. Journal of Management, 5 Aug. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206312440118.
- Hassan, A., & Hashim, J. (2011). Role of organizational justice in determining work outcomes of national and expatriate academic staff in Malaysia. *International Journal of Commerce and Management*, 21(1), 82–93. https://doi.org/10.1108/10569211111111711.
- Hassan, S. (2016). Impact of HRM practices on employee's performance. International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences, 6(1), 15–22.
- Hayes, A. F. & Scharkow, M. (2013). The relative trustworthiness of inferential tests of the indirect effect in statistical mediation analysis: Does method really matter? *Psychological Science*, 24(10), 1918-1927.
- Heffernan, M. (2012). Employee reactions to high performance work systems in the service sector: assessing the role of organisational justice theory. University of Ireland, Galway.
- Henderson, A. D. & Fredrickson, J. W. (2001). Top Management Team Coordination Needs and Test of the Ceo Pay Gap : A Competitive Economic and Behavioral Views. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(1), 96–117.
- Henderson, J. C. (1999). Strategic Alignment: Leveraging Information Technology for Transforming Organizations. *IBM Systems Journal*, 32(1).
- Henderson, J. & Venkatramen, N. (1989). Strategic Alignment: A Model for Organisational Transformation. In Kochan, T., Unseem, M. (Eds.), 1992. Transforming Organisations. OUP, New York.
- Henderson, R. I. (2005). *Compensation Management in A Knowledge-Based World* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Heneman, H. G. & Judge, T. A. (2000). Incentives and motivation. In S. Rynes & B. Gerhart (Eds.) (pp. 61–103). Compensation in Organizations: Progress and Prospects, San Francisco, CA: New Lexington Press.
- Heneman, R. L. & LeBlanc, P. V. (2003). Work Valuation Addresses Shortcomings of Both Job Evaluation and Market Pricing. *Compensation & Benefits Review*, 35(1), 7–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886368702239780.
- Henman, P. (2016). Techniques and paradoxes in performing performance measurements: concluding reflections. *Policy Studies*, 37(6), 597–609. https://doi.org/10.1080/01442872.2016.1190447.

- Herpen, V. M., Praag, V. M., & Cools, K. (2005). The Effects of Performance Measurement and Compensation on Motivation: An Empirical Study. *De Economist*, 153(3), 303–329.
- Hijry, H., & Haleem, A. (2017). Study the Factors that Influence Employees Performance in the Steel Factory, Saudi Arabia. *Industrial Engineering and Operations Management Rabat*, 899–916.
- Hoe, J., & Hoare, Z. (2012). Understanding Quantitative Research: Part 1. *Nursing Standards*, 27, 52–57. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns2012.12.27.15.52.c9485.
- Hom, P. W., Lee, T. W., Shaw, J. D., & Hausknecht, J. P. (2017). One Hundred Years of Employee Turnover Theory and Research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 530–545.
- Hooper, D., Coughlan, J., & Mullen, M. (2008). Structural Equation Modelling: Guidelines for Determining Model Fit. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 6(1), 53–60.
- Hossain, S., Sohrab, K., Jamshid, N., & Mahmood, A. (2012). Alignment in The Organizations Strategy Window (Concentration on Business Strategy and Operations Strategy). African Journal of Business Management, 6(51), 12016–12022. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJBM12.523.
- Huang, J. L., Ryan, A. M., Zabel, K. L., & Palmer, A. (2014). Personality and Adaptive Performance at Work: A Meta- Analytic Investigation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99(2), 162–179.
- Huang, M. (1997). Disruption of Six Novel Yeast Genes Reveals Three Genes Essential for Vegetative Growth and One Required for Growth at Low Temperature. *Yeast Functional Analysis Report*, 13(12).
- Ileka, N. O., & Muogbo, U. (2020). Wages And Salary Administration And Employee Performance In Selected Government Ministries In Anambra State. *International Journal of Innovative Development and Policy Studies*, 8(1), 70–80.
- Ilgen, D., & Schneider, J. (1991). *Performance Measurement: A Multi-Discipline View*. Chichester:John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
- International Labor Organization.(2017). A Challenging Market Becomes More Challenging Jordanian Workers, Migrant Workers and Refugees in the Jordanian Labour Market.
- Inuwa, M. (2016). Job Satisfaction and Employee Performance : An Empirical Approach. *The Millennium University Journal*, 1(1), 90–103.

- Inuwa, M. (2017). The Impact of Job Satisfaction, Job Attitude and Equity on Employee Performance. *The International Journal of Business and Management*, 3(5), 288–293.
- Iqbal, A., Ijaz, M., Latif, F., & Mushtaq, H. (2015). Factors Affecting The Employee's Performance: A Case Study of Banking Sector in Pakistan. *European Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, 4(8).
- Ismail, A., & Abd. Halim, F. (2008). Relationship Between Distributive Justice, Pay Design Dimensions and Job Commitment Within Malaysian Public Institutions of Higher Learning. Unitar E-Journal, 4(2), 11–26.
- Ismail, A., Guatleng, O., Cheekiong, T., Ibrahim, Z., Ajis, M. N. eim, & Dollah, N. F. (2009). The Indirect Effect of Distributive Justice in The Relationship Between Pay Structure and Work Attitudes and Behavior. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 11(2), 234–248.
- Ivibhogbe, S. O. (2005). Employee Performance Evaluation: Union Bank of Nigeria PLC as Aa Case Study", Seminar paper presented at Mills, Ilorin, Nigeria.
- Jacobs, K., Hellman, M., Wuest, E., & Markowitz, J. (2013). *Job performance* (pp. 1132–1133). Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine.
- Jalagat, R. (2017). Determinants of Job Stress and Its Relationship on Employee Job Performance. American Journal of Management Science and Engineering, 2(1), 1–10.
- Jameel, A. S., Mahmood, Y. N., & Jwmaa, S. J. (2020). Organisational Justice and Organisational Commitment among Secondary School Teachers. *Cihan* University-Erbil Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences, 4(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.24086/cuejhss.v4n1y2020.pp1-6.
- James, K. (1993). The Social Context of Organizational Justice: Cultural, Intergroup and Structural Effects on Justice Behaviours and Perceptions. In *Cropanzano, R. ed. Justice in the Workplace: Approaching Fairness in Human Resource Management.* Hillsdale: Erlbaum.
- Jehanzeb, K., Mazen, F., Rasheed, A. R., & Aamir, A. (2012). Impact of Rewards and Motivation on Job Satisfaction in Banking Sector of Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3(21), 272–278.
- Jermsittiparsert, K., Suan, C., & Kaliappen, N. (2019). The Mediating Role of Organizational Commitment and the Moderating Role of Perceived Organizational Support in the Relationship between Job Satisfaction and Job Performance of Educationists in Public Sector Institutes of Thailand. *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change*, 6(10), 150–171.

- Jesca, N. K. (2014). The Impact of Reward Systems on Organizations Performance in Tanzanian Banking Industry. *Academy of Business Horizons*, *3*(3), 9–19.
- Jordan Chamber of Industry JCI. (2018). Annual Report. Retrived from https://www.jci.org.jo/Chamber.
- Jordan Department of Statistics DOS. (2018). Statistical Yearbook: (*Year Book 2018 and 2020*). Retrived from http://dosweb.dos.gov.jo/jordan-statistical-yearbook /.
- Jordan Industrial Estates Company JIEC. (2018). Annual Report: (*Reports 2008, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018*). Retrived from https://www.jiec.com/en/annual-report/.
- Jordan Ministry of Industry Trade and Supply JMITS. (2018). Annual Report. Retrived from https://www.mit.gov.jo/Default/En.
- Jordan Ministry of Labor JML. (2018). Annual Report: (*Reports 2018, 2019*). Retrived from http://www.mol.gov.jo/Default/Ar.
- Josephat, P., & Ismail, A. (2013). A Logistic Regression Model of Customer Satisfaction of Airline. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 2(4), 255. https://doi.org/10.5296/ijhrs.v2i4.2868.
- Joshi, M. P., Kathuria, R., & Porth, S. J. (2003). Alignment of Strategic Priorities and Performance: An Integration of Operations and Strategic Management Perspectives. *Journal of Operations Management*, 21(3), 353–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-6963(03)00003-2.
- Joshi, P. (2016). Relational Rewards: Creating A Fulfilling Workplace Environment. International Journal of Engineering and Management Research, 6(4), 1–5. www.ijemr.net.
- Kadam, P., & Bhalerao, S. (2010). Sample Size Calculation. *International Journal* of Ayurveda Research, 1(1), 55–89.
- Kahya, E. (2018). A Wage Model Consisted of Job Evaluation, Employee Characteristics and Job Performance. *Pamukkale University Journal of Engineering Sciences*, 24(4), 720–729. https://doi.org/10.5505/pajes.2017.92609.
- Kale Jayant R., R. E. and V. A. (2009). Rank-Order Tournaments and Incentive Alignment: The Effect on Firm Performance Rank-Order Tournaments and Incentive Alignment: The Effect on Firm Performance. *The Journal of Finance*, 64(3), 1479–1512.

- Kaplan, R. (2005). How the balanced scorecard complements the McKinsey 7-S. *Strategy* & *Leadership*, 33(3), 41–46. https://doi.org/model10.1108/10878570510594442.
- Kappagoda, U. W. M. R. S., Othman, Z. H. F., & Alwis, G. De. (2014). Psychological Capital and Job Performance : The Mediating Role of Work Attitudes. *Journal of Human Resource and Sustainability Studies*, 2, 102– 116.
- Karanja, J. W. (2014). Effects of Corporate Culture on Organization Performance. *IOSR Journal of Mathematics*, 10(6), 59–65.
- Kathuria, R., Joshi, M. P., & Porth, S. J. (2007). Organizational Alignment and Performance: Past, Present and Future. *Management Decision*, 45(3), 503– 517. https://doi.org/10.1108/00251740710745106.
- Kepes, S., Delery, J., & Gupta, N. (2009). Contingencies in the Effects of Pay Range on Organizational Effectiveness. *Personnel Psychology*, 62(3), 497– 531.
- Khan, I., Shahid, M., & Nawab, S. (2013). Influence of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Rewards on Employee Performance: The Banking Sector of Pakistan. *Academic Research International*, 4(1), 282–291.
- Khudhair, F. S., Rahman, R. A., & Adnan, A. A. B. Z. (2020). The Relationship between Compensation Strategy and Employee Performance among Academic Staff in Iraqi Universities: A Literature Review. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 10(1), 251– 263. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/y10-i1/6848.
- Kline, R. (2012). *Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling* (3rd ed.). The Guilford Press: NewYork.
- Kokemuller, N. (n.d.). The Advantages of Internal Equity in a Compensation Plan. Small Business - Chron.Com. http://smallbusiness.chron.com/advantagesinternal-equity-compensation-plan-81169.html.
- Konovsky, M. A. (2000). Understanding Procedural Jjustice and its Impact on Business Organizations. *Journal of Management*, 26(3), 489–511. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920630002600306.
- Konovsky, M. A., & Cropanzano, R. (1991). Perceived Fairness of Employee Drug Testing as A Predictor of Employee Attitudes and Job Performance. *Journal of Applied Psycholog*, 76(5), 698–707.
- Korkaew, J., & Suthinee, R. (2012). Factors Affecting Job Performance: A Review of Literature. *Silpakorn University Journal of Social Science, Humanities, and Arts*, 12(2), 115–127.

- Korschun, D., Bhattacharya, C. B., & Swain, S. D. (2014). Corporate Social Responsibility, Customer Orientation, and The Job Performance of Frontline Employees. *Journal of Marketing*, 78(3), 20–37.
- Krejcie, R. V., & Morgan, D. W. (1970). Determining Sample Size for Research Activities. Educational and Psychological Measurement. *Educ Psychol Measurement*, 30, 607–610. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.2763111.
- Kumar, R. (2011). *Research Methodology: A Step by Step for Beginners* (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Lai, H. (2011). The Influence of Compensation System Design on Employee Satisfaction. *African Journal of Business Management*, 5(26), 10718–10723. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJBM11.005.
- Lallemand, T., Plasman, R., & Rycx, F. (2004). Intra-Firm Wage Dispersion and Firm Performance: Evidence from Linked Employer-Employee Data. *KYKLOS*, 57(4), 533–558. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0023-5962.2004.00268.x
- Lambert, E. G., Keena, L. D., Leone, M., May, D., & Haynes, S. H. (2019). The effects of distributive and procedural justice on job satisfaction and organizational commitment of correctional staff. *Social Science Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2019.02.002.
- Lankeshwara, P. (2018). A Study on The Impact of Workplace Environment on Employee's Performance: With Reference to The Brandix Intimate Apparel -Awissawella. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies*, 3(1), 47. https://doi.org/10.4038/ijms.v3i1.82.
- Latham, G. P., & Kenneth, N. W. (1994). *Increasing Productivity through Performance Appraisal* (2nd ed.). Addison-Wesley.
- Lazear, E. P., & Rosen, S. (1981). Rank-Order Tournaments as Optimum Labor Contracts. *Journal of Political Economy*, 89(5), 841–864. https://doi.org/10.1086/261010.
- Lee, K. W., Lev, B., & Yeo, G. H. H. (2008). Executive Pay Dispersion, Corporate Governance, and Firm Performance. *Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting*, *30*(3), 315–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11156-007-0053-8.
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2005). *Practical Research: Planning and Design* (8th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Leventhal, G. S. (1980). What Should be Done with Equity Theory?, in Social *Exchange*. eds K. Gergen, M. Greenberg, and R. Willis New York, NY: Springer.

- Levine, D. I. (1993). What Do Wages Buy? Administrative Science Quarterly, 38(3), 462–483. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2393376.
- Levine, E. L., & Ash, R. . (2014). Evaluation of Job Analysis Methods by Experienced Job Analysts. *Social Science Computer Review*, 32(5), 628–646.
- Liao, C.-W., Lu, C.-Y., Huang, C.-K., & Chiang, T.-L. (2012). Work Values, Work Attitude and Job Performance of Green Energy Industry Employees in Taiwan. *African Journal of Business Management*, 6(15), 5299–5318. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajbm11.1449.
- Likert, R. (1961). New Patterns of Management. NY, US: McGraw-Hill.
- Lilian, S. C. (2014). Virtual Teams: Opportunities and Challenges for e-Leaders. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *110*(2), 1251–1261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.972.
- Lin, Y. F., Yeh, Y. M. C., & Shih, Y. T. (2013). Tournament Theory's Perspective of Executive Pay Gaps. *Journal of Business Research*, 66(5), 585–592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.04.003.
- Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. . (1994). Competing Paradigms in Qualitative Research. In *Handbook of qualitative research*. Naturalistic Inquiry,Sage, Newbury Park, Calif, USA.
- Livingstone, D. (2009). Education and Jobs: Exploring the Gaps. University of Toronto Press.
- Livingstone, L. P., Roberts, J. A., & Chonko, L. B. (1995). Perceptions of Internal and External Equity as Predictors of Outside Salespeople's' Job Satisfaction. *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, 15(2), 33–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.1995.10754019.
- Locke, E. (2004). The Micro Analysis: Methods and Analysis. Anaan: New York.
- Locke, E. A. (1976). The Nature and Causes of Job Satisfaction. Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology, 1, 1297–1343.
- Locke, E., & Latham, G. (1990). Work Motivation: The High Performance: A review and Research Agenda. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 8(3), 263–276.
- Loi, R., Hang-yue, N., & Foley, S. (2006). Linking employees' justice perceptions to organizational commitment and intention to leave: The mediating role of perceived organizational support. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 79(1), 101–120. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317905X39657.

- Lottrup, L., Stigsdotter, U. K., Meilby, H., & Claudi, A. G. (2015). The Workplace Window View: A Determinant of Office Workers' Work Ability and Job Satisfaction. *Landscape Research*, 40(1), 57–75.
- Luftman, J. N. (1996). *Competing in the Information Age: Strategic Alignment in Practice*. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Lynch, Kathleen; Baker, J. (2005). Equality in Education: An Equality of Condition Perspective. *Theory and Research in Education*, 3(2), 131–164.
- Lynch, P. (2000). Time Based Pay. In *R. Thorpe, & G. Homan, Strategic Reward Systems* (pp. 274–286). England: Pearson Education Limited.
- MacUtay, M. V. (2020). Quantitative analysis of job satisfaction and job performance of teaching personnel of isabela state university. *Journal of Critical Reviews*, 7(11), 235–240. https://doi.org/10.31838/jcr.07.11.38.
- Mahy, B., Rycx, F., & Volral, M. (2016). Are Workers Less Absent When Wage Dispersion is Small? *International Journal of Manpower*, 37(2), 197–209.
- Malallah, M. Y., & Regondola, A. A. (2014). Work Attitudes of Employees of Saudi Aramco: Its Relation to Work Satisfaction. *International Journal Of Technology Enhancements And Emerging Engineering Research*, 2(10).
- Malhotra, N. K., & Birks, D. F. (2007). *Marketing Research: An Applied Approach* (3rd ed.). (third Ed.), Prentice Hall, Incorporated.
- Martin, J. E., & Peterson, M. M. (1987). Two-Tier Wage Structures: Implications for Equity Theory. *Academy of Management Journal*, 30(2), 297–315. https://doi.org/10.2307/256275.
- Martineau, T., Lehman, U., Matwa, P., Kathyola, J., & Storey, K. (2006). Factors Affecting Retention of Different Groups of Rural Health Workers in Malawi and Eastern Cape Province, South Africa.
- Martins, P. S. (2008). Dispersion in Wage Premiums and Firm Performance. *Economics Letters*, *101*(1), 63–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2008.04.006.
- Martocchio, J. J. (2008). Overview. In *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management* (Vol. 27, pp. xi–xiv). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-7301(08)27008-8.
- Masi, R. J., & Cooke, R. A. (2008). Effects of Transformational Leadership on Subordinate Motivation, Empowering Norms, and Organizational Productivity. *The International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 8(1), 16– 47. https://doi.org/10.1108/eb028909.

- Mathis, R. L., & Jackson, J. H. (2008). *Human Resource Management* (12th ed.). Thomson South-Western.
- Mello, J. A. (2011). *Strategic Human Resource Management* (3rd ed.). Southwestern Cengage Learning.
- Menges, J. I., Tussing, D. V., Wihler, A., & Grant, A. M. (2014). When Job Performance is All Relative : How Family Motivation Energizes Effort and Compensates for Intrinsic Motivation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 60(2), 695–719.
- Mezias, S. J. (2015). An Institutional Organizational Financial Reporting at the Fortune 200. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *35*(3), 431–457.
- Micceri, T. (1989). The unicorn, the normal curve, and other improbable creatures. *Psychological Bulletin*, 105(1), 156.
- Milkovich, G., Newman, J., & Gerhart, B. (2013). *Compensation* (11th ed.). McGraw-Hill Irwin: New York.
- Milkovich, G., & Newman, J. M. (2002). *Compensation* (7th ed.). McGraw-Hill Irwin: New York.
- Mira, M. S., Choong, Y. V., & Thim, C. K. (2019). The effect of HRM practices and employees' job satisfaction on employee performance. *Management Science Letters*, 9(6), 771–786. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.3.011.
- Misra, P., Rana, N., & Dixit, V. (2013). Compensation: Impact of Rewards and Organizational Justice on Turnover Intentions and The Role of Motivation and Job Satisfaction: A Study of Retail Store Operations in NCR. International Journal of Human Resources Development and Management, 13(2–3), 136–152. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJHRDM.2013.055414.
- Moorhead, G., & Griffin, R. W. (1999). Organizational Behavior: Managing People And Organizations (5th ed.). A.I.T.B.S. Publishers.
- Moorman, R. H. (1991). Relationship Between Organizational Justice and Organizational Citizenship Behaviors: Do Fairness Perceptions Influence Employee Citizenship? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76(6), 845–855. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.76.6.845.
- Morgeson, F. P., Campion, M. A., Maertz, C. P., Morgeson, P., Campion, A., & Maertz, C. P. (2001). Understanding Pay Satisfaction: The Limits of a Compensation System Implementation. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 16(1), 133–149.

- Morrell, D. L. (2011). Employee Perceptions and the Motivation of Nonmonetary Incentives. *Compensation & Benefits Review*, 43(5), 318–323. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886368711407998.
- Morris, S., & Snell, S. (2018). *Managing Human Resources* (18th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Motowidlo, S. J., Borman, W. C., & Schmit, M. J. (1997). A theory of Individual Differences in Task and Contextual Performance. *Human Performance*, 10(2), 71–83.
- Motowidlo, S. J., & Schmit, M. J. (1999). Performance Assessment in Unique Jobs. In D. R. Ilgen & E. D. Pulakos (Eds.), The changing nature of job performance: Implications for staffing, motivation, and development (pp. 56– 86). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Motowidlo, S. J., & Van Scotter, J. R. (1994). Evidence That Task Performance Should Be Distinguished from Contextual Performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(4), 475–480.
- Muchhal, D. S. (2014). HR Practices and Job Performance. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 19(4), 55–61. https://doi.org/10.9790/0837-19415561.
- Mullins, L. J. (2010). *Management and Organisational Behaviour* (9th ed.). Pearson: London.
- Muo, I. (2013). Motivating & Managing Knowledge Workers: Evidences from Diverse Industries & Cultures. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 3(2), 119–131. https://doi.org/10.5539/jms.v3n2p119.
- Murphy, K. R., & Kroeker, L. P. (1988). *Dimensions of Job Performance* (p. Colorado State University, Fort Collins).
- Muschara, T. (2014). Critical Steps: How to Identify and Manage the Most Important Human Performance Risks in Operations. *International Society for Performance Improvement*, 53(9), 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.
- Nagaraju, B. (2017). Impact of Salary on Employee Performance Emperical Evidence From Public and Private Sector Banks. *International Journal of* Marketing and Human Resource Management, 8(4), 43–51.
- Naharuddin, N. M., & Mohammad, S. (2013). Factors of Workplace Environment that Affect Employees Performance: A Case Study of Miyazu Malaysia. *International Journal of Independent Research and Studies*, 2(2), 66–78.

- Nataraja, S., & Alamri, M. S. (2016). Strategic Human Resource Management in Saudi Arabia's Service Sector. *Journal of Competitiveness Studies*, 24(1–2), 91–102.
- Ngu, S. M. (2005). *Management Principles and Worker's Motivation in Nigeria*, *Zaria*. Ahmadu Bello University.
- Ngwa, W. T., Adeleke, B. S., Agbaeze, E. K., Ghasi, N. C., & Imhanrenialena, B. O. (2019). Effect of Reward System on Employee Performance Among Selected Manufacturing Firms in The Litoral Region of Cameroon. Academy of Strategic Management Journal, 18(3), 1–16.
- Niehoff, B. P., & Moorman, R. H. (1993). Justice as a Mediator of the Relationship Between Methods of Monitoring and Organizational Citizenship Behavior. *Academy of Management Journal*, 36(3), 527–556. https://doi.org/10.5465/256591.
- Njeru, E. M. (2012). Influence of Institutional Reforms on Employee Job Satisfaction; A Case of Meru G.K Prison in Meru County. University of Nairobi.
- Njoroge, S. W., Kwasira, J., Wambui Njoroge, S., & Kwasira, J. (2015). Influence of Compensation and Reward on Performance of Employees at Nakuru County Government. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 17(11), 2319–7668. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-171118793.
- Nunnaly, J., & Bernctein, I. (1994). *Psychometric Theory* (3rd ed.). McGrow-Hill: NewYork
- Nwachukwu, C. C. (2000). *Human Resources management*. Port Harcourt: Davidstone Publishers Ltd.
- Nweke, J. O. (2016). Effects of Job Evaluation on Workers 'Productivity: A Study of Ohaukwu Local Government Area , Ebonyi State , Nigeria. International Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 6(3), 50–55.
- Nyandema, S., Ochenge, F., & Susan, O. (2014). Human Resource Management, TQM, and Firm Performance in Small and Medium-Size Enterprises, Entrepreneurship. *Theory and Practice*, 25(1), 43-58.
- Nyasha, M., Katsuro, P., Chazuza, T., Makaita, M. M., Mukondiwa, T., Farai, M., Kudakwashe, N. N., Tafadzwa, U., & Taonga, M. (2013). Importance of Establishing a Job Analysis Exercise in an Organisation : A Case Study of Bread Manufacturing Companies in Zimbabwe. *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research*, 2(11), 35–42.

- O'Reilly, C. A., Main, B. G., & Crystal, G. S. (1988). CEO Compensation as Tournament and Social Comparison: A Tale of Two Theories. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *33*(2), 257–274. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393058.
- O'Reilly, C. A., & Wade, J. (1993). Top Executive Pay: Tournament or Teamwork? *Journal of Labor Economics*, 11(4), 606–628. https://doi.org/10.1086/298309.
- Obasan, K. A. (2012). Effect of Compensation Strategy on Corporate Performance : Evidence from Nigerian Firms. *Research Journal of Finance* and Accounting, 3(7), 37–45.
- Ogunbameru. (2001). Practical Agricultural Communication. Daily Graphics (Nig) Ltd. Ibadan.
- Okoye, P. V. C., & Ezejiofor, R. A. (2013). The Effect of Human Resources Development on Organizational Productivity. International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 3(10). https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v3-i10/295.
- Okumbe, J. A. (1999). Educational Management Theory and Practice. Nairobi University Press, Kenya.
- Olatunji, E. S., & Sarat, I. A. (2014). wages and salaries administration as motivational tool in Nigerian organisation (a case study of Nestle Nigeria Plc). *Journal of Business Theory and Practice*, 2(2), 247–260.
- Olson, J., Roese, N., Meen, J., & Robertson, D. (1995). The Preconditions and Consequences of Relative Deprivation: Two Field Studies. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 25, 944–964.
- Onuorah, A. N., Okeke, M. ., & Ikechukwu, I. A. (2019). Compensation Management and Employee Performance in Nigeria. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Socal Sciences*, 9(2), 384–398. https://doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v9-i2/5552.
- Osabiya, B. J. (2015). The Effect of Employees 'Motivation on Organizational Performance. *Journal of Public Administration and Policy Research*, 7(4), 62–75. https://doi.org/10.5897/JPAPR2014.0300.
- Osibanjo, A. O., Abiodun, A. J., & Fadugba, A. O. (2012). Executive Perception of The Impact of Flexitime on Organisational Performance: Evidence From The Nigeria Private Sector. *International Journal of Applied Behavioural Economics, IJABE*, 1(3), 16–27.
- Osibanjo, O. A., Adeniji, A. A., Falola, H. O., & Heirsmac, P. T. (2014). Compensation Packages : A strategic Tool for Employees 'Performance and Retention. *Leonardo Journal of Sciences*, 25, 65–84.

- Otobo, D. (1987). The Role of Trade unions in Nigerian Industrial Relations. Lagos: Malthouse Press.
- Paauwe, J. (2004). HRM and Performance: Unique Approaches for Achieving Long Term Viability. *Oxford University Press*. Oxford, England.
- Pallant, J. (2007). SPSS Survival Manual: step-by-step guide to data analysis (3rd ed.). Allen & Unwin, Australia.
- Pan, X., Chen, M., Hao, Z., & Bi, W. (2018). The Effects of Organizational Justice on Positive Organizational Behavior: Evidence from A Large-Sample Survey and A Situational Experiment. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(JAN), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02315.
- Parker, S. K. (2014). Beyond Motivation: Job and Work Design for Development, Health, Ambidexterity, and More. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 65(1), 661–691.
- Patten, M. L. (2004). Understanding Research Methods: An Overview of the Essentials. Glendale, Calif. :Pyrczak Pub.
- Persson, L. N. (1977). Job Evaluation method for determining what the job is worth. In *Personnel Literature* (pp. 4–116). Administrative Management.
- Pettigrew, T. F. (2002). Relative Deprivation as A Key social psychological concept. In *Walker, I. and Smith, H. (Eds.), Relative Deprivation: Specification, Development and Integration* (pp. 351–374). Cambridge University Press, New York, NY.
- Pfeffer, J., & Villeneuve, F. (1994). Competitive Advantage Through People: Unleashing the Power of The Work Force. *Harvard Business School Press Boston, MA. Vol 61.*
- Pfeffer, Jeffrey, & Langton, N. (1993). The Effect of Wage Dispersion on Satisfaction, Productivity, and Working Collaboratively: Evidence from College and University Faculty. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *38*(3), 382. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393373.
- Pinder, C. C. (2008). *Work Motivation in Organizational Behavior* (2nd ed.). Psychology Press.
- Podder, P., & Ferdausy, S. (2014). Role of Perceived Organizational Justice on Job Performance: An Empirical Study at The Private Commercial Banks of Bangladesh. *The Chittagong University Journal of Business Administration*, 29(December), 213–232.

Porter, M. E. (1996). What is Strategy? Harvard Business Review Nov-Dec, 61-78.

- Powell, T. C. (1992). Organizational Alignment as Competitive Advantage. *Strategic Management Journa*, 13(October 1991).
- Pradhan, R. K., & Jena, L. K. (2017). Employee Performance at Workplace: Conceptual Model and Empirical Validation. *Business Perspectives and Research*, 5(1), 69–85. https://doi.org/10.1177/2278533716671630.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2004). SPSS and SAS Procedures for Estimating Indirect Effects in Simple Mediation Models. *Behaviour Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 36*(4), 717–737.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and Resampling Strategies for Assessing and Comparing Indirect Effects in Multiple Mediator Models. *Behaviour Research Methods*, 40(3), 879–891.
- Prendergast, C. (1999). The Provision of Incentives in Firms. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *37*(1), 7–63. https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.37.1.7.
- Quinn, J. B., Anderson, P., & Finkelstein, S. (2005). Leveraging Intellect. Academy of Management Executive, 19(4), 78–94. https://doi.org/10.5465/AME.2005.19417909.
- Qureshi, H., Frank, J., Lambert, E. G., Klahm, C., & Smith, B. (2017). Organizational Justice's Relationship with Job Satisfaction and Organizational Commitment among Indian Police. *The Police Journal*, 90(1), 3–23.
- Qureshi, M. O., & Sajjad, S. R. (2015). An Empirical Analysis of The Impact of Compensation on Job Performance and Work-Family Conflict in The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia- "A Correlation Model." *European Scientific Journal*, 11(4), 170–187.
- Rahim, A., Magner, N. R., Antonioni, D., & Rahman, S. (2001). Do Justice Relationships with Organization-Directed Reactions Differ Across U. S. And Bangladesh Employees? *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 12(4), 333–349.
- Rahimi, M., Hashim, M. T., Tahsildari, H., & Khodakarmai, P. (2013). The Relationship between Perception of Equity and Job Satisfaction among Employees of Malaysian Universities. *International Journal of Innovation and Business Strategy*, 2, 59–72. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17474086.2017.1399059.
- Raju, K. K., & Banerjee, S. (2017). A Study on Job Description and its Effect on Employee Performance: Case of Some Selected Manufacturing Organizations in the City of Pune, India. *International Journal of Latest Technology in Engineering, Management & Applied Science (IJLTEMAS)*, 6(2), 2278–2540.

- Ramzan, M., Zubair, H. M. K., Ali, G., & Arslan, M. (2014). Impact of Compensation on Employee Performance (Empirical Evidence from Banking Sector of Pakistan). *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 5(2), 302–309.
- Rast, S., & Tourani, A. (2012). Evaluation of Employees' Job Satisfaction and Role of Gender Difference: An Empirical Study at Airline Industry in Iran. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3(7), 91–100.
- Rehman, M. S. (2009). Impact of Job Analysis on Job Performance: A Study of Public Sector Organizations of Pakistan National (Issue April). University of Modern Languages.
- Renhui, F., Fang, G., H, K. Y., & Buhui, Q. (2017). Performance Volatility, Information Availability, and Disclosure Reforms. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 75, 35–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2016.11.011.
- Robbins, S. P., & Judge, T. A. (2013). *Essentials of Organizational Behavior* (12th ed.). Pearson: London.
- Rudestam, K., & Newton, R. (2001). Surviving Your Dissertation: A Comprehensive Guide to Content and Process (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CASage.
- Sadikoglu, E., & Zehir, C. (2010). Investigating the Effects of Innovation and Employee Performance on The Relationship Between Total Quality Management Practices and Firm Performance: An Empirical Study of Turkish Firms. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 127(1), 13– 26.
- Sagie, A. (2002). Employee Absenteeism, Organizational Commitment and Job Satisfaction: Another Look. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 52, 156–172.
- Sajuyigbe, A. S., Olaoye, B. . ., & Adeyemi, M. . (2013). Impact of Reward on Employees Performance in A Selected Manufacturing Companies in Ibadan, Oyo State, Nigeria. *International Journal of Arts and Commerce*, 2(2).
- Sanchez, J I, Prager, I., Wilson, A., & Viswesvaran, C. (1998). Understanding within-Job Title Variance in Job-Analytic Ratings. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 12(4), 407–419.
- Sanchez, Juan I., & Levine, E. L. (2000). Accuracy or Consequential Validity: Which Is the Better Standard for Job Analysis Data? *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21, 839–862.
- Sandelowski, M. (2014). Unmixing Mixed-Methods Researc. *Research in Nursing and Health*, *37*, 3–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21570.

- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research Methods for Business Students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education: London.
- Scammon, D. L., Tabler, J., Brunisholz, K., Gren, L. H., Kim, J., Tomoaia-cotisel, A., Day, J., Farrell, T. W., & Waitzman, N. J. (2014). Organizational Culture Associated With Provider Satisfaction. *The Journal of the American Board* of Family Medicine, 27, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2014.02.120338.
- Schaubroeck, J., May, D. R., & Brown, F. W. (1994). Procedural Justice Explanations and Employee Reactions to Economic Hardship: A Field Experiment. *Journal of Applied Psychology.*, 79.
- Schramm, W. (1971). *Notes on Case Stydy for Instructional Media Project*. Working Paper for Academy of Educational Development: Washington DC.
- Schweitzer, M. E., Lisa, O., & Douma, B. (2014). Goal Setting as a Motivator of Unethical Behavior. Academy of Management Journal, 47(3), 422–432. https://doi.org/10.2307/20159591.
- Sekaran, U. (2003). Research Methods for Business: A Skill-Building Approach. (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Sekaran, Uma, & Bougie, R. (2016). Research Methods for Business (7th ed.). Willy.
- Shah, T. S., Ali, H., Mohsin, M., Raza, M. Y., Hussain, M. M., & Rafique, T. (2015). The Impact of Working Relationship Quality on Job Satisfaction and Sales Person Performance: An Adaptive Selling Behaviour. Asia-Pacific Journal of Management Research and Innovation, 11(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/2319510x14565017.
- Shakeel, S., & Lodhi, S. (2015). Impact of Training and Development on Employee Performance: A Case of Banking Sector of Pakistan. *The International Journal of Business & Management*, 3(11), 76.
- Shaw, Gupta, N., & Delery, J. E. (2002). Pay Dispersion and Workforce Performance: Moderating Effects of Incentives and Interdependence. *Strategic Management Journal*, 23(6), 491–512. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.235.
- Shaw, J., & Gupta, N. (2007). Pay System Characteristics and Quit Patterns of Good, Average, and Poor Performers. *Personnel Psychology*, 60(4), 903– 928. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2007.00095.x

- Sherwani, K. H. (2018). Impact of The Academician's Perception of Organizational Justice on Contextual Performance:(The Case of Academicians of Two Private Universities in Erbil City). International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 118(20), 4861–4873.
- Siegel, P. A., & Hambrick, D. C. (2005). Pay Disparities within Top Management Groups: Evidence of Harmful Effects on Performance of High-Technology Firms. *Organization Science*, *16*(3), 259–274. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1050.0128.
- Silva, G., Ortega, E., & Cordeiro, G. (2010). The beta modified Weibull distribution. *Lifetime Data Analysis*, *16*, 409–430. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10985-010-9161-1.
- Silva, M. R., & Caetano, A. (2014). Organizational justice: What changes, what remains the same? *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 27(1), 23–40. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-06-2013-0092.
- Simon, M. (2010). Dissertation & Scholary Research: Recipes for Success. Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt.
- Singleton, R. A., & Straits, B. C. (2010). *Approaches to Social Research* (5th ed.). Oxford University Press: Oxford, England
- Skarlicki, D. P., & Folger, R. (1997). Retaliation in The Workplace: The Roles of Distributive, Procedural, And Interactional Justice. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83(5), 434-443.
- Smaczny, T. (2001). Is An Alignment between Business and IT the Appropriate Paradigm to Manage IT in Today's Organisation? *Management Decision*, 39(10), 797–802.
- Sonnentag, S., & Frese, M. (2005). Performance Concepts and Performance Theory. In *Psychological Management of Individual Performance* (Issue January, pp. 1–25). https://doi.org/10.1002/0470013419.ch1
- Sopiah. (2013). The Effect of Compensation toward Job Satisfaction and Job Performance of Outsourcing Employees of Syariah Banks in Malang Indonesai. *International Journal of Learning & Development*, 3(2), 77–91.
- Squires, J. E., Hoben, M., Linklater, S., Carleton, H. L., Graham, N., & Estabrooks, C. A. (2015). Job Satisfaction among Care Aides in Residential Long-Term Care: A Systematic Review of Contributing Factors, both Individual and Organizational. *Nursing Research and Practice*. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015/157924.
- Statt, D. (2004). *Psychology and the World of Work* (2nd ed.). Palgrave MacMillan : New York.

- Stecher, M. D., & Rosse, J. G. (2005). The Distributive Side of Interactional Justice: The Effects of Interpersonal Treatment on Emotional Arousa. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 17(2), 229–246.
- Steyn, R., & Jackson, L. (2015). Gender Based Discrimination in South Africa: A Quantitative Analysis of Fairness of Remuneration. South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences, 18(2), 190–205. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.17159/2222-3436/2015/v18n2a4.
- Sule, O. E., Amuni, S. I., Obasan, K. A., & Banjo, H. A. (2015). Wages and Salaries as A Motivational Tool for Enhancing Organizational Performance. A Survey of Selected Nigerian Workplace. *EuroEconomica*, 34(1).
- Sun, H., & Hong, C. (2002). The Alignment Between Manufacturing and Business Strategies: Its Influence on Business Performance. *Technovation*, 22(11), 699–705. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4972(01)00066-9.
- Surbhi, S. (2015). Differences between Salaries and Wages; Retrieved on 15th April, 2019 from .http://keydifferences.com/.
- Suthar, B. K., Chakravarthi, T. L., & Pradhan, S. (2014). Impacts of Job Analysis on Organizational Performance: An Inquiry on Indian Public Sector Enterprises. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *11*(14), 166–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(14)00186-5.
- Swalhi, A., Zgoulli, S., & Hofaidhllaoui, M. (2017). The Influence of Organizational Justice on Job Performance the Mediating Effect of Affective Commitment. *Journal of Management Development*, 36(4), 542–559.
- Swanson, R. A., & Holton, E. F. (2005). *Research in Organizations: Foundations* and Methods in Inquiry. Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Sweeney, P. D., & McFarlin, D. B. (1993). Workers' Evaluation of the "Ends" and the "Means": An Examination of Four Models of Distributive and Procedural Justice. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 55, 23–40.
- Sykes, T. A., & Venkatesh, V. (2017). Explaining Post-Implementation Employee System Use and Job Performance: Impacts of the Content and Source of Social Network Ties. *MIS Quarterly*, 41(3), 917–936. https://doi.org/10.25300/misq/2017/41.3.11.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2006). Using Multivariate Statistics. (6th ed.). MA: Allyn & Bacon: Boston.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). *Using Multivariate Statistics* (7th ed.). Pearson: London.

- Tabiu, A., & Nura, A. A. (2013). Assessing the Effects of Human Resource Management (HRM) Practices on Employee Job Performance: A Study of Usmanu Danfodiyo University Sokoto. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 5(2), 247.
- Tan, C. L., & Nasurdin, A. M. (2011). Human Resource Management Practices and Organizational Innovation: Assessing the Mediating Role of Knowledge Management Effectiveness. *Electronic Journal of Knowledge Management*, 9(2), 155.
- Tansel, A., & Gazioglu, S. (2013). Management-Employee Relations, Firm Size and Job Satisfaction (Issue 45060).
- Tao, Y., Chuang, H., & Lin, E. S. (2016). Compensation and Performance in Major League Baseball : Evidence from Salary Dispersion and Team Performance. *International Review of Economics and Finance*, 43, 151–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iref.2015.10.037.
- Tasios, T., & Giannouli, V. (2017). Job Descriptive Index (JDI): Reliability and Validity Study in Greece. *Archives of Assessment Psychology*, 7(1), 61–91.
- Tekleab, A. G., Bartol, K. M., & Liu, W. (2005). Is It Pay Levels or Pay Raises That Matter to Fairness and Turnover? *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 26(8), 899–921. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.352.
- Thao, L. T., & Hwang, C. shu J. (2015). Factors Affecting Employee Performance Engineering Research. *Journal of Social Consultancy*, 2(10), 13.
- Thomas, N. W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (2010). Organizational Tenure and Job Performance. Journal of Management, 36(5). https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1177/0149206309359809.
- Tomoyuki, S. (2020). Wage Disparities between Standard and Non-standard Employees : From the Perspective of Human Resource Management. *Japan Labor Issues*, 4(22), 23–41.
- Trevor, C. O., Reilly, G., & Gerhart, B. (2012). Reconsidering Pay Dispersion's Effect on The Performance of Interdependent Work: Reconciling Sorting and Pay Inequality. Academy of Management Journal, 55(3), 585–610. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2006.0127.
- Trevor, C. O., & Wazeter, D. L. (2006). A Contingent View of Reactions to Objective Pay Conditions: Interdependence among Pay Structure Characteristics and Pay Relative to Internal and External Referents. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 91(6), 1260–1275. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.6.1260.

- Tripathy, S. P. (2014). Impact of Motivation on Job Performance of Contractual Staff in Devi Ahilya University Indore. *Paripex-Indian Journal of Research*, *3*(5), 1–5.
- Ullman, J. (2001). Structural Equation Modeling. In B. G. Tabachnick & L. S. Fidell (Eds.), Using Multivariate Statistics (4th ed.). Allyn & Bacon, Needham Heights, MA.
- Urieşi, S. (2016). Motivational Effects of Pay Dispersion in Pay for Performance Programs Implemented in Romanian Companies. *Management and Marketing*, 11(2), 431–448. https://doi.org/10.1515/mmcks-2016-0007.
- Vandenabeele, W. (2009). The Mediating Effect of Job Satisfaction and Organizational Commitment on Self-Reported Performance: More Robust Evidence of The PSM - Performance Relationship. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 75(1), 11–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852308099504.
- Venkatraman, N., Henderson, J. C., & Oldach, S. (1993). Continuous Strategic Alignment: Exploiting Information Technology Capabilities for Competitive Success. *European Management Journal*, 11(2), 139–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/0263-2373(93)90037-I.
- Villarreal, L. O. (2017). Is It Desirable, Necessary and Possible to Perform Research Using Case Studies? *Cuadernos De Gestión*, 17(1), 147-171. https://doi.org/doi:10.5295/cdg.140516ov.
- Visveswaran, C., & Ones, D. S. (2000). Perspectives on Models of Job Performance. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 8, 216–226.
- Vratskikh, I., Masa'deh, R. (Moh'dTaisir), Al-Lozi, M., & Maqableh, M. (2016). The Impact of Emotional Intelligence on Job Performance via the Mediating Role of Job Satisfaction. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 11(2), 69. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v11n2p69.
- Walster, E., Walster, G. W., & Berscheid, E. (1978). *Equity: Theory and Research*. Allyn and Bacon.
- Weber, C. L., & Rynes, S. L. (1991). Effect of Compensation Strategy on Job Pay Decisions. Academy of Management Journal, 34(March), 86–109.
- Weill, P., & Broadbent, M. (1998). Leveraging the New Infrastructure. *Harvard Business School Press*.
- Weiser, J. (2000). Organizational Alignment: Are We Heading in the Same Direction. *The Kansas Banker*, 90, 11–15.

- Werner A. (2001). Motivation in Human Resource Management, Cape Town. Oxford University Press, 587.
- Werther, W. B., & Davis, K. (1993). Human Resources and Personnel Management. McGraw-Hill. New York.
- Wesonga, J., Kombo, A., Murumba, N., & Edwin, M. (2011). The Factors Contributing to Labour Turnover in The Sugar Industry in Kenya (A Case of Sony Sugar Company Limited). *International Research Journals*, 2(5), 1138–1148.
- Wilfred, O. N., Elijah, C. M., & Muturi, W. (2014). Effect of Remuneration on Employees Performance in the Ministry of Internal Security: A Case of Kisii County. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 4(1), 223. https://doi.org/10.5296/ijhrs.v4i1.5478.
- Williams, M. L., McDaniel, M. A., & Nguyen, N. T. (2006). A meta-Analysis of the Antecedents and Consequences of Pay Level Satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(2), 392–413. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.2.392.
- Wisdom, J. P., Cavaleri, M. A., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Green, C. A. (2012). Methodological Reporting in Qualitative, Quantitative, And Mixed Methods Health Services Research Articles. *Health Services Research*, 47, 721–745. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01344x.
- Wright, P. M., & Snell, S. A. (1998). Toward A Unifying Framework for Exploring Fit and Flexibility in Strategic Human Resource Management. Academy of Management Review, 23, 756–772.

World Statistics Pocketbook WSB. (2018). (42nd ed.). United Nations.

- Wynekoop, J., & Walz, D. (2000). Investigating traits of Top Performing Software Developers. Information Technology & People, 13(3), 186–195. https://doi.org/. https://doi.org/10.1108/09593840010377626.
- Xu, M., Kong, G., & Kong, D. (2017). Does Wage Justice Hamper Creativity? Pay Gap and Firm Innovation in China. *China Economic Review*, 44(April), 186– 202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chieco.2017.04.003.
- Yamoah, E. E. (2013). Relationship between Compensation and Employee Productivity. Singaporean Journal of Business, Economics and Management Studies, 2(1), 110–114. https://doi.org/10.12816/0003845.
- Yates, J., & Leggett, T. (2016). Qualitative Research: An Introduction. *Radiologic Technology*, 88(2).

- Zakay, N., & Feitelson, D. G. (2014). Workload Resampling for Performance Evaluation of Parallel Job Schedulers. *Concurrency and Computation: Practice and Experience*, 26(12), 2079–2105.
- Zikmund, W. G., Babin, B. J., Carr, J. C., & Griffin, M. (2003). Business research methods. Thomson/South-Western, Cincinnati, OH.

